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DEDICATION

In memory of Reverend Mother Delphine Fontbonne
who established the Congregation of the Sisters of St.
Joseph in Toronto, and who by her zeal for souls and
Jervent practice of the religious life, laid the firm founda-
tion of a spiritual edifice “ A House Built Upon a Rock”
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PREFACE

N institution that has survived for centuries
the shocks of fortune and the corrosion of
time has in its constitution an essential ele-

ment of immortal life. History amply demonstrates
that all man-made edifices inevitably pass into ob-
livion, their purposes and usefulness having ceased
to exist.

[They]| drop like the tower sublime
Of yesterday, which royally did wear
Its crown of weeds, but could not even sustain
. . . the touch of time.

Such, however, is not the fate of the handiwork
of God, the most conspicuous example being the
Church of Christ, which has existed for many centu-
ries and will continue, even in outward form, to the
consummation of the world, because its divine
purpose remains forever.

The salvation of souls being its general aim, the
Church directs its labours into every sphere of human
life that has any influence on the ultimate destiny of
men. In consequence, her activities are varied and
numerous and she must devise ways and means of
making them effective. For this purpose religious
organizations have been founded under the general
patronage of the Church. Because they are in aim
identified with the Church, they partake of her im-

1X
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mortal life. They preach the gospel everywhere and
are first to bring the good tidings into the most remote
districts on earth; they establish schools and train
the youth of every land intellectually and morally for
the service of God and country; they build refuges
for the orphan and the aged, hospitals for the infirm,
and sacrifice themselves without stint in every form
of Christian charity.

In the diocese of Toronto there has been a re-
markable growth of Catholic life and Catholic insti-
tutions during the past hundred years in spite of many
disabilities under which the Church labours, especial-
ly in the field of education. Many organizations have
had a part in building up the great external structure
of the faith as it stands today in this diocese, and it
must be admitted by all who are familiar with the
history of the Church in our country that no religious
congregation of women has contributed more to this
than the Sisters of St. Joseph. It is one hundred
years since they came to Toronto, for them a hundred
years of struggle, toil, and sacrifice, which the pen of
the historian can never adequately portray; the Re-
cording Angel alone will indite this story of heroic
toil and sacrifice truly and adequately in the Book
of Judgment.

This volume is a contribution to the centennial
anniversary of the coming of the Sisters of St. Joseph
to Toronto. The writer has devoted a long period of
intensive study to the task, having in view not a
panegyric of her congregation but a clear statement
of facts and figures, which in this instance is the
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highest form of eulogy, because its aim, the establish-
ment of truth, represents what Belloc maintains is
the primary purpose of history. Indeed, it would be
difficult to find truth, especially the truths of our
faith, set out in finer garb than that through which it
shines forth in the multitude of services successfully
conducted by the Sisters of St. Joseph in this diocese
during the past hundred years.

In reading this record of accomplishment one is
especially impressed with the great variety of services
to the faith performed by this congregation, and by
the further fact that this diffusion of effort over many
fields has not lessened its efficiency in any single field.
We can recall the days when an important annual
event in Catholic circles in Toronto was the House of
Providence picnic in aid of the work that the Sisters
were doing for the orphans and the aged. We re-
member also seeing the Sisters travelling through the
rural districts in sub-zero weather collecting supplies
for their beloved poor. One received the impression
that the poor were their sole care, and yet it was only
one of their many works.

As a matter of fact the majority of the Sisters at
this time were engaged in educational work. Be-
ginning with the grade schools, they soon took on
more advanced work and opened high schools in
Toronto and other places in the diocese. The time
came when an increasing number of Catholic girls
desired to obtain university degrees under Catholic
auspices. The Sisters realized that they were obli-
gated to supply this service, and although the work
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of preparation for this work seemed fraught with
almost insurmountable difficulties, nevertheless under
the inspiration and leadership of Mother Irene, Sisters
were prepared for the instruction of various courses
in the Arts Department of the University. By the
afhiliation with the University of Toronto which this
new college department secured through St. Michael’s
College, they were able to supply this new demand
and for many years this work in higher education has
been carried on with the most gratifying results.

Next came the era of hospital work. The as-
tonishing strides made in this great charitable under-
taking in the City of Toronto by the Sisters of St.
Joseph is a source of amazement to everyone who has
any acquaintance with its difficulties. With very little
public assistance, although the work is a great public
utility, the Sisters have built, equipped, and staffed
three great hospitals, which are caring for the sick
regardless of race, religion, and station in life.

From the original foundation in Toronto have
gone forth separate foundations in the dioceses of
Hamilton, London, Peterborough, North Bay, and
Pembroke. All these foundations have developed
rapidly and are conducting schools and hospitals with
the most gratifying results. Moreover, the Toronto
Sisters have opened houses in Quebec, Manitoba,
Saskatchewan, and British Columbia, which are di-
rected and staffed by them.

It is most fitting then, on the occasion of the cen-
tenary of the coming of the Sisters of St. Joseph to
the diocese of Toronto, that a record be written of
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their accomplishments during the past hundred years.
To this work of love the author has devoted a great
amount of laborious research and has succeeded ad-
mirably in presenting the reader with a clear, faithful,
and interesting history. Of particular interest are the
chapters dealing with the foundation of the Com-
munity three hundred years ago by Bishop de Maupas
and Father Médaille, S.]J., those portraying the hero-
ism culminating in the martyrdom of several of its
members during the French Revolution, and the first
foundation made in America at the invitation of
Bishop Rosati of St. Louis; and finally the establish-
ment of the Congregation in Toronto by the Sisters
from St. Louis under the patronage of Bishop de
Charbonnel.

During most of the past century the Fathers of
St. Basil have been closely associated with the work
of the Sisters of St. Joseph, and it is the source of
much gratification to them that this association has
existed.

WiLrLiam J. Roacn, C.S.B.

St. Basil’s Seminary
21 St. Mary Street, Toronto
Feast of the Circumcision, 1951
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PART I - FRANCE

“‘Car chaque peuple est né pour lui-méme, mais la France est

née pour tout I'univers afin qu’elle lui porte la joie.”

—PavuL CLAUDEL
La Nuit de Noél de 1914
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CHAPTER ONE

THE- FOUNDERS

HE story of a religious ceremony performed in

I the chapel of the municipal orphanage of the

obscure mediaeval town of Le Puy is of
interest to some thirty thousand Sisters of St. Joseph,
belonging to sixty Mother Houses, many of them far
distant from the original scene.

The occasion was the clothing with the holy habit,
on October 15, 1648, of six aspirants to the religious
life who were to form the nucleus of the Congregation
of St. Joseph. The celebrant was the eminent prelate,
Messire Henry de Maupas du Tour, First Almoner of
Her Majesty Queen Anne of Austria, Bishop and
Lord of Le Puy, Count of Velay, Suffragan of the
Holy See.

This imposing array of titles reflects the lofty
position of this ecclesiastic, great in the eyes of ‘the
world, but great also by the nobility of his character.
This function in which he initiated chosen souls into
the apostolate of charity to the neighbour was typical
of his devotion to the lowly, the poor, and the humble.

Henry de Maupas du Tour was born in 1606, in
the Castle of Cosson in Champagne, two leagues from
Reims. His sponsor at the baptismal font was the
King, Henry IV, who gave him his own name. He
received from his father, Charles de Maupas, and

5




6 FRANCE

from his mother, Anne de Gondi, the principles of a
Christian education. True to the traditions of his
race, he was ever faithful to God and his King. The
prestige of his family obtained for him at the age of
ten the Commendatory! title of Abbot of Saint-
Denys of Reims. Unlike most of the youthful holders
of these positions, he showed himself more interested
in its duties than in its emoluments. Later on, when
he had the necessary authority, he was one of the first
to reform the bestowal of these benefices on boys of
tender age.

His classical training, in the Jesuit College of
Reims, was followed by a university course and seven
years of philosophy and theology, crowned by the
doctorate.

At an early age, in his associations with his
cousins, the de Gondi, Henri de Maupas came under
the influence of St. Vincent de Paul (1581-1660), who,
with the aid of Mme Emmanuel de Gondi, was organ-
1zing his first rural missions, and also his Dames de la
Charité. In Paris Henri de Maupas was a faithful
frequenter of the “Tuesday Conferences,” the meet-
ings at Saint Lazare at which a great number of
prelates and doctors including men like Bossuet, de
Bérulle, and Olier assembled to listen to, and be
animated with zeal for souls by the burning words of
Vincent, former guardian of his father’s sheep on the
landes of Gascony, now become the shepherd of
sacerdotal souls.

'The tenure of an ecclesiastical position by aclerk or layman in which
he held a certain jurisdiction, and might enjoy the revenues, but did not
exercise authority over internal discipline.
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Ordained priest in 1629, the Abbé de Maupas
began immediately his apostolate of preaching, which
he continued until his death. He had the privilege
of pronouncing a panegyric of St. Francis de Sales and
the funeral oration of St. Vincent de Paul, tasks for
which he was well qualified. In addition to his inter-
course with St. Vincent, he had been attracted by and
had come under the influence of the circle in Paris
‘which kept alive the memory of St. Francis de Sales.
By conversing with the disciples of the latter, by
studying all available documents, and by frequent
visits to the convents of the Visitation, he acquired
an intimate knowledge of this saint and his spiritual
system.

In tracing the development of an Institute de-
voted to the corporal works of mercy, it is interesting
to note that in the first plans of his Order of the
Visitation, St. Francis intended that his daughters
should practise the exterior works of charity, such as
visiting and aiding the poor and the sick in their
homes, hence the title of the “Visitation.” The saint
was, however, in advance of his age.

Inaugurated under the superiorship of St. Jane
Frances de Chantal in 1610, the Congregation pro-
gressed well at first. After 1612, the foundress and
her Visitandines went forth from the Gallery House!
in Annecy on their errands of mercy, in the intervals
between the hours of prayer. However, difficulties

The Gallery House is at the present day in the possession of the
Sisters of St. Joseph. A new Visitation Monastery has been erected on a

hill overlooking the town, in the chapel of which are enshrined the remains
of St. Francis de Sales and St. Jane Frances.
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arose when a new foundation was made in 1615 in
Lyons. The Cardinal Archbishop of that city, as
well as other prelates, considered the cloister neces-
sary for women consecrated to God in the religious
life, and the gentle Bishop of Geneva finally yielded,
and 1n 1618 his congregation was erected into an
Order with perpetual enclosure. The original idea
of St. Francis, inspired as it was by God, was destined
not to be lost; and among those who brought about
the realization of the first plans of St. Francis was
Henry de Maupas.

Abbé de Maupas published a life of St. Jane
Frances de Chantal in 1644, and in 1657 the first bio-
graphy of St. Francis de Sales. He was chosen first
by Rome and later by the King and the Assembly of
the Clergy of France to sustain the process of the
beatification and canonization of St. Francis de Sales.

In 1644 he was consecrated Bishop of Le Puy, an
appointment which, besides making him an ecclesi-
astical Superior, conferred on him the temporal rights
of overlord and count of Velay, titles which over-
lapped with the civil functions of the municipal rulers
of Le Puy, as well as with the powers of the King’s
representatives, with whom he became later involved
in conflicts.

Among the devotions of this fervent pastor of
souls two appear to have been fundamental, his love
for the Blessed Eucharist, and his filial piety towards
the Immaculate Heart of Mary. To this latter he
united veneration for St. Joseph, and it is significant,
in view of the approaching date of the foundation of
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the Sisters of St. Joseph, that on May 4, 1648, he
wrote the following lines to his sister, a Benedictine
nun at Saint-Pierre de Reims: “This great saint who
is my particular patron this year has special claims
upon my gratitude for many reasons”; and several
years later he writes again, “I ask pardon of God for
not having mentioned our great St. Joseph in my last
letter; Iimagine that you know the obligations which
I am under to this Saint. Help me to thank him. One
has only to read what St. Teresa has written of him,
to learn to be devout to him, and to hope for many
spiritual favours from his intercession.”

In 1662 he was transferred to the See of Evreux,
where after a fruitful episcopate of eighteen years,
crowned with apostolic labours, he died on August 12,
1680. He was buried in the Cathedral of his see, and
in the Latin inscription on his tomb, his most glorious
title is “Father of the Poor.”

Associated with Bishop de Maupas as co-founder
of the Congregation of the Sisters of St. Joseph, was
the Rev. Jean-Pierre Médaille of the Society of Jesus.

Father Médaille was born at Carcassonne on Oc-
tober 6, 1610. His parents, among other evidences of
zeal for the Catholic religion, collaborated in the
foundation of the Jesuit College, established in 1623
in that city to counteract the influence of Protestant-
ism in the south-east of France. After studying there
for three years until he was sixteen, Jean-Pierre
entered the Society of Jesus. When he finished his
novitiate he consecrated several years to letters and
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philosophy, after which he went to Toulouse to study
theology. During this time he had the privilege of
associating with two students raised later to the altars
of the church: St. John Francis Regis, S.J., and St.
Noél Chabanel, S.J., one of the Canadian Martyrs.

Ordained in 1638 and ready for the active life of
the ministry, Jean-Pierre Médaille was sent to the
College of Aurillac where his chief occupation was
preaching. He spent the years from 1643 to 1649 at
the College of Saint-Flour, where he was in turn
minister (assistant to the Superior), procurator, and
spiritual father. Recent researches have established
these dates which prove that it was not, as formerly
believed, during his missionary life, but during the
journeys to the towns and villages of Languedoc and
Auvergne necessitated by the duties of his office,
during which his zeal prompted him to aid the Curés
of the different parishes on his way, that he met souls
who aspired to serve God in the religious life. This
was difficult of accomplishment in seventeenth-
century France, when the cloistered life of religious
women entailed a certain fortune and in many cases
even quarterings of nobility.

Father Médaille, a skilful prudent director, kept
in touch with his penitents and exhorted them to
patience, until in this concern for them, God provided
a means of satisfying their desires.

Although he was never permanently attached to
the Jesuit College of Le Puy, it is certain that Father
Médaille visited that city and that he confided to
Bishop de Maupas his desire to gather together the
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chosen souls who were under his spiritual direction.
Long before this, Providence arranged that the
Bishop should be imbued with the same ideals as the
Jesuit Father concerning the advancement of religious
women to the Apostolate of the corporal works of
mercy, so that, assured of the Bishop’s co-operation,
gradually the great event of the Foundation was
prepared and realized.

From 1650 to 1654 Father Médaille occupied the
same positions in the College of Aurillac. Finally,
from 1654 to 1669, with headquarters first at Mont-
ferrand, later at Clermont, he formed one of the band
of missionaries who worked to safeguard the faith of
Catholics exposed to the influence of the Calvinists.
He had been preceded in this activity by M. Olier in
Auvergne and St. John Francis Regis in Velay, the
Vivarais, and the Cevennes.

During these years the holy founder did not forget
his Sisters at Le Puy. He elaborated with care the
constitutions which he had given them, as times and
circumstances suggested.

His inner spirit is revealed in his Maxims of Per-
fection for Souls who Aspire to Great Virtue. The
Maxims are expressed in a language which is in ac-
cordance with the classical standards of his age, clear,
appealing to the reason rather than to the emotions,
rich in reflections on the interior life, but at the same
time reserved and objective. They harmonize the
Ignatian spirit of this founder with that of the French
mystical writers of the seventeenth century, St.
Francis de Sales, Cardinal de Bérulle, and M. Olier.
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A first edition appeared in 1657. This was followed
in 1672 by a second edition. Very soon the Maxims
became incorporated in the book of the Constitutions
of the Sisters of St. Joseph.

A further legacy to his Religious Daughters is an
admirable letter! in which the holy founder reveals
the spirit which is to animate them.

Finally in 1669, worn out by his missionary
labours, Father Médaille retired to the Jesuit College
of Billom, where he died on December 30 of the same
year. The place of his interment is unknown; but
his memory survives in the grateful hearts of his
spiritual children.

1See Appendix I.




CHAPTER TWO

THE CORNERSTONE

ne episcopal city of Bishop de Maupas in
which the Congregation of the Sisters of St.

Joseph had its origin was Le Puy-en-Velay.

Velay, the most northern section of the province

of Languedoc, forms topographically part of the
Massif Central, the Central Plateau of France. The
scenery is marvellously picturesque, the result of
violent volcanic disturbances which have produced
irregular uplands and valleys, the former covered with
dark forests. Le Puy,! the capital of Velay, which
ranked second to Toulouse in the administration of
the province, is a very ancient town built at the base
of two volcanic needles of eruptive rock, Mont Cor-
neille and Mont St. Michel. Its wonderful cathedral,
romanesque in style, is the joy of archaeologists.
Notre Dame de Puy possesses, according to Viollet-
le-Duc (1814-79), the oldest example of cathedral
cloisters. It is situated on a steep declivity, Mt. Anis
(the Anicium of the Romans), which overlooks the
town. Legend enhanced the glorious history of this
fortress cathedral built into the rock-bound hillside.
Constructed of basalt, the product of that volcanic
region, mixed with yellow freestone and brick, which

1Pyuy, the regular development of the Latin noun podium (hill) is, in
modern French, reserved for place-names and is used as a common noun
only in the mountainous regions of Auvergne and Velay.

13
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forms a unique decoration, it reflects in its archi-
tectural designs the different periods during which it
was in the process of construction. Gallo-Roman
features alternate with those of Byzantine origin.
These latter show the influence of the Crusaders im-
bued with the ideas they brought back from the East.
The Saracen invasions also left their imprint here as
in the other territories through which they swept.
Byzantine art is especially noticeable in the mural
paintings of the interior with their characteristic blue
backgrounds.

The whole street leading up to the cathedral be-
comes a vast stairway which continues under the
portals and arches until it reaches the high altar.
Now the staircase has been turned, and one enters by
the south aisle of the nave near the transept. In the
early days it was possible to follow Mass from the old
square at the foot of the steps. In the thirteenth
century, Saint Louis brought back from the East the
Black Virgin which was installed above the main
altar, replacing a much older one. The stiff cloak of
triangular shape is typical of these statues brought
from the Orient. Burned during the Great Revo-
lution, it was copied from memory and is still en-
throned on the high altar.

Velay was not spared the chaotic conditions which
prevailed in France at the beginning of the seven-
teenth century, conditions which were the result of
the Wars of Religion and other disruptive forces, and
which brought in their train poverty among the lower
classes, a marked decline in religious observance,
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uprisings against the royal power, and divisions in
families. However, the early years of the seventeenth
century saw the beginning of the movement which
brought about more peaceful conditions, especially
in the towns like Le Puy. It is true that the sur-
rounding country districts even in the 1630’s and
1640’s were still without the definite religious and
material help desirable.

A Congregation of non-cloistered Sisters who
would devote their energies to the solace of the poor
and afflicted could find abundant scope for its activi-
ties in this mountainous district. This kind of life
was made possible by the foundations of St. Vincent
de Paul who had opened to religious women “a field
of the Apostolate as vast as human misery in all its
forms, with the aim of being in its manifestations the
Charity of Christ Himself.”* Le Puy was the setting
chosen by the founders for the establishment of such
an Institute.

We do not know when the holy founders met, but
records show that when they did so they were in
complete accord. The Bishop was glad to provide
the material requirements and give ecclesiastical
sanction to a religious community which would revive
the first idea of his model, St. Francis de Sales, and
Father Médaille could supply the personnel and
inculcate in them the interior spirit of the new foun-
dation. Providence arranged at this juncture that a
very ancient institution of the town of Le Puy, the
Hépital of Montferrand,? needed re-organization. At

1M, Chalendard, La Promotion de la Femme a L’ Apostolat (Paris, 1950).
2The name of a street in Le Puy.
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that time the term /dpital had a wider signification
than in our day, for this house, which was to become
the cradle of the Congregation, was a refuge for
orphans and homeless women. Tact, joined to his
episcopal authority, enabled the Bishop to transfer
its management from the lay staff in charge to these
protégées of Father Médaille, who were awaiting the
summons to begin their religious life.

On October 15, 1648, these first volunteers were
constituted into a religious institute under the name
of “The Congregation of the Sisters of St. Joseph.”
The choice of the feast of St. Teresa was most ap-
propriate, for she who was ever the devout client of
St. Joseph now became with St. Francis de Sales a
special patron of the Congregation.

Other late discoveries prove that the first pro-
fession and the canonical erection of the Institute
under its official name took place on March 10, 1651.
Later, on December 13, 1651, an Act of Association,
drawn up by a-notary, gave the necessary legal lay
authorization of the Institute.

Recent researches into archives formerly inac-
cessible have brought to light the names of the first
members who placed themselves at the disposal of
the founders. They are in the order of their arrival
at the orphanage: Frangoise Eyraud, Clauda Chastal,
Marguerite Burdier, Anna Chaleyer, Anna Vex, and
Anna Brun. The first-named of these was Superior
of the House of Montferrand in Le Puy until 1680.
The municipal records of the town note that she per-
formed the exterior duties of her position most ef-
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ficiently and to the entire satisfaction of the lay
management.

No written record of eulogy of Frangoise Eyraud
for her interior government of the Community, has
been handed down to us, but what greater testimony
could be offered to her impelling example of valour
and generosity than the zeal evinced by her daughters
in their manifold charitable undertakings, and the
swift expansion of the Institute under her direction?

The canonical erection of the Congregation was
followed in 1665 by an ordinance in its favour by
Bishop Armand de Béthune, successor to Bishop de
Maupas in the See of Le Puy. In January 1674, the
approbation of King Louis XIV was obtained and the
royal decree was registered in Letters Patent by the
Parlement of Toulouse.

It is interesting to observe, in this last document,
the emphasis which is placed on the educational
activities of the Congregation. This was in keeping
with the nation-wide movement for the stamping out
of heresy and the exaltation of the Catholic religion,
which reached its culmination in 1685 in the Revo-
cation of the Edict of Nantes.

Thus fortified by episcopal and royal approbation,
the Congregation spread rapidly in the dioceses of Puy,
Clermont, Embrun, Gap, and other places. But the
most glorious foundation was doubtless that in the
archiepiscopal city of Vienne, the capital of Dauphiné,
and the see of the Primate of the Primates of Gaul.

It was owing to the interest and influence of the
* Primate, Archbishop Henry de Villars, that the Sisters
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of St. Joseph were given charge in 1668 of the most
important hospital in that city, and this occupation
was followed in the same year by the approbation of
the ecclesiastical authority.

A further evidence of the interest of the Arch-
bishop is shown by the fact that he wished that each
of his religious daughters should have a copy of the
Rule, and with this intention he ordered that a careful
revision of the old manuscripts should be made and
printed. This first printed edition of the Consti-
tutions appeared in 1693. It remained faithful to the
letter and primitive spirit of the Congregation, while
all unnecessary details were omitted.

In the course of time, the activities of the little
Institute became Vincentian in their scope, embracing
as they did many phases of social service, which in-
cluded the Christian education of youth. We have
seen also that the pattern was Salesian; but the inner
spirit, that intangible quality which is the individual
vivifying principle of a religious foundation, emanated
from the Christ-like soul of the Jesuit Father, Jean-
Pierre Médaille. The Congregation was to be
consecrated to the Most Holy Trinity, under the
protection of Jesus, Mary, and Joseph. Its title was
to be the “Institute of the Sisters of St. Joseph.” The
foster-father of our Lord seemed to Father Médaille
to be an excellent model for souls who would “devote
themselves to the interior life, the education of the
young, and the relief of human misery.” The spirit
of the Institute was to be a spirit of humility and
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charity, and the distinctive characteristic of the Sister
of St. Joseph was to be simplicity. The ideal of
sanctity which Father Médaille proposed for his
daughters was the highest and most perfect. Realiz-
ing that corporal austerities are incompatible with
arduous duties, this true disciple of St. Ignatius
stressed rather the necessity of an intense interior life
as essential to ultimate union with God. With com-
plete abandonment to the Divine Will in the life of
the apostolate, they would, like the great St. Teresa,
seek God in themselves, and themselves in God.

Who could have foreseen that the spirit of the
“Little Design,” as Father Médaille called his Com-
munity, so lowly in its origin, would become the
animating force of countless souls who would observe
the Rule of their holy founder in different fields of
labour, among the young, the old, the sick, the un-
fortunate, under skies far distant from the mountain
districts of Velay?



CHAPTER THREE

MOTHER ST. JOHN
FONTBONNE

spirit of France declined. The causes were
complex and some of them reached far into
the past. The glorious achievements of the French
Church in the preceding age had obscured these sub-
versive influences, and it was only the keen mind of a
Pascal or a Bossuet that was aware of the tares amidst
the wheat. At the very turn of the century daring
propaganda of an anti-religious nature appeared, and
the outstanding literary men of the so-called Age of
Enlightenment reacted against religious beliefs as
well as the political, social, and literary theories of
monarchical France. These works spread, in spite
of various censorships, and apparently no adequate
Christian apologetics appeared to stem the tide. It
is true that in the monasteries holy souls still conse-
crated their lives to the praising of God and to inter-
cession for their fellow-men; and among municipal
archives there are records of the works of charity
which the sons and daughters of St. Vincent de Paul,
of St. John Eudes, of St. John Baptist de la Salle, and
of other founders, carried on with unabated zeal for

God’s glory.
The expansion of the Institute of St. Joseph con-
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DURING the eighteenth century the Christian
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tinued in its diverse aspects during the opening and
succeeding years of this century. The districts of
Velay, Forez, Lyonnais, and Auvergne became dotted
with hospitals, orphanages, and schools in which the
Sisters continued in the spirit of their founders the
service to the neighbour which the varying needs of
the time demanded.

True to the original design as already exemplified
in the houses of the Visitation, new foundations be-
came autonomous in their government, especially
those in towns. This does not mean that the newly
established houses severed relations with Le Puy. At
this period the Institute had reached a definite stage
of maturity, and a distinctive religious spirit had be-
come clearly apparent. Transmitted by the members
who left Le Puy or the later houses to make new
foundations, it was a bond of union between the
parent trunk and its branches. This spirit was re-
flected in a certain suavity and graciousness, charac-
teristic of Salesian spirituality, and stressed by
Bishop de Maupas. It coalesced perfectly with the
more austere features of the Ignatian system as
inculcated by the Jesuit co-founder. Its exterior -
expression appeared in the virtues of humility, chari-
ty, and simplicity, mentioned earlier, which ever
continued to be the vitalizing force of the Institute.

It happened frequently from the earliest years of
the establishment of the Congregation down to the
period of the Revolution, that the members of a new
foundation took charge of a hospital or orphanage to
which was added later the work of teaching, under
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the same Superior who directed the various works.
This was the case in two relatively unimportant towns
which enter into this narrative as the scenes of the
birth and labours of a soul chosen by Divine Provi-
dence to guide a branch of the Congregation during
the troubled years of the religious and social upheaval
consequent upon the outbreak of the Revolution.

These two places were Bas-en-Basset and Monis-
trol. Both were small hill-towns of Velay, situated
on promontories which overlooked the upper reaches
of the Loire, a short distance north of Le Puy. In
the former of these, Bas-en-Basset, on March 31,
1759, was born Jeanne Fontbonne. Her parents were
of humble station, and they were model Christians.
The surname, “Fontbonne,”! suggestive of the Gallo-
Roman origins of the family, and its meaning “Good
Source,” implies those precious qualities of endurance
and patience in times of crisis which the ancestors in
these old lands handed down to succeeding generations.

Bas had possessed a house of the Sisters of St.
Joseph since the end of the seventeenth century, and
it was here that M. Michel Fontbonne brought his
two daughters, Marie and Jeanne, when they were of
school age. The family knew the Sisters well; M.
Fontbonne’s sister, Sister St. Francis, and later on,
his half-sister, Sister Mary of the Visitation, were
Sisters of St. Joseph. Members of three generations
of the Fontbonne family were to devote their lives
to the service of God and their neighbour in the
Congregation.

1The root fons, masculine in classical Latin, became feminine in the
vulgar tongue.
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Tradition tells us that the two young girls finished
their education at Le Puy, and that on their return to
Bas they kept up their intercourse with the convent.
Eventually, when Jeanne was eighteen and her sister
twenty-one, the former became the spokesman in an-
nouncing to their parents their desire to devote them-
selves to God in religion. With Christian fortitude
the parents accepted the will of God and made the
double sacrifice.

The two girls were presented to the Bishop of Le
Puy, Monsignor de Galard, at a religious function at
the convent of Bas, on March 19, 1778. On this
occasion the Bishop told Mother St. Francis that he
was founding in Monistrol a school for the children
of the townspeople, under the direction of the Sisters
of St. Joseph, who already had charge of the hospital
there, and that he was appointing her the Superior of
both school and hospital. After a conversation with
her nieces, in which he learned of their desire to
consecrate themselves to God in the religious state,
he ordered her to take them with her. On July 14,
1778, Marie and Jeanne left Bas for Monistrol and
five months later they were clothed with the religious
habit. Marie received the name of Sister Teresa and
Jeanne that of Sister St. John.

Monistrol! was a Roman town where evidently
there had been a monastery established at an early
date. In the eighteenth century, however, it owed its
prestige to the fact that it was the summer residence
of the bishops of Le Puy. Wider horizons and a more

1Derived from the Latin diminutive monasteriolum.
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salubrious climate than those of Le Puy had obtained
for it this honour; hence the designation Monistrol
I’ Evéque.

It was here that Mother St. John spent the early
years of her religious life, learning its spirit and
zealously fulfilling her duties as teacher. In the year
1785 Monsignor de Galard finally kept the promise
he had made to the Sisters of Bas that he would send
Mother St. Francis back to them, and in her place he
appointed Mother St. John. The young religious,
only twenty-six years of age, was overwhelmed at the
thought of the responsibilities of her new position,
but later events proved that the Bishop had made an
excellent choice. Endowed with superior intelligence,
rare energy, and eminent virtue, she accomplished
admirably the duties of her office as guide, confidante,
and inspiration to her subjects, while occupied in the
hospital and the school. Connected with the latter
was a department in which young women were in-
structed in the art of lace-making, a profitable indus-
try, and one which was very popular in the towns and
villages of Velay. The Sisters of St. Joseph, from the
beginning, adapted themselves readily to the teaching
of feminine handicrafts, a movement which is ex-
panding rapidly in the present day.

It seemed that life would be sheltered, passed with-
in convent walls, in an atmosphere far removed from
the turmoil of political and religious strife, and sancti-
fied by the love of God, of fellow-religious, and of the
“dear neighbour.”* But there might be heard already

'Words of Father Médaille.
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the rumblings of a cataclysmic storm, which would
shake Europe to its foundations, and as a result of
which, after its appeasement, a new world would
emerge. The French Revolution was imminent.

In the first period of the outbreak many Catholics
rallied to the principles of the Revolution. Its most
important social and political theories were evolved
from doctrines sanctioned by Christian thought.
These were the doctrines of the equality of men and
their right to choose the representatives who would
form the governing power in a democratic system of
government. The first measures of the leaders were
concerned with financial affairs, which at this time
had reached a crisis with which no minister could
cope. The impulse for readjustment soon swelled to a
vast movement controlled by political factions which
were inspired by hatred of religion and class distinc-
tions. After the meeting of the Estates-General on
May 5, 1789, there followed in swift succession the
Tennis Court Oath, the taking of the Bastille, the
abolition of the feudal privileges, and the Declaration
of the Rights of Man.

Religious issues soon became involved in the po-
litical struggles. In an effort to place the Church
under the domination of the State, the Civil Consti-
tution of the Clergy was completed by law on July
12, 1790—a measure which left to the Pope only
spiritual supremacy. Henceforth bishops and vicars
were to be chosen by the body of active citizens and
were to be paid by the nation. The Civil Constitution
was condemned by the Holy See; Catholics, forbidden



26 FRANCE

to take the required oath, were obliged to choose
between the Revolution and their faith.

In 1791 Bishop de Galard abandoned his episcopal
charge and withdrew to Monistrol; later he went into
exile in Switzerland. The following year the Sisters
were driven from their convent in Monistrol for having
refused to assist at the Mass of the schismatic priest,
and Mother St. John and Sister Teresa retired to
their father’s home at Bas. In December 1793, re-
ligious women were required to take the oath, and
on their refusal Mother St. John and Sister Teresa
were obliged, in order to avoid arrest, to take refuge
in the caves of the neighbouring woods. They were
finally discovered and thrown into the prison of
Saint-Didier, now known in the Revolutionary termi-
nology as Montfranc. The weeks and months of the
Great Terror succeeded one another and the little
group of Sisters, joined later by the older Mother St.
Francis, awaited their fate with calmness. Mother
St. John became a support to her companions in mis-
fortune. Her courage and religious spirit animated
them to prepare in a fitting way for the death to
which the judges of Robespierre sentenced them. The
Terror, having reached its climax in the summer of
1794, was, however, brought to a sudden end by the
assassination of the tyrant on July 28, the day before
their martyrdom was to have taken place.

God had other designs for Mother St. John; near-
ly fifty years of intense active work in His vineyard
became the allotted destiny of His servant, thus tried
by the fiery ordeal of religious persecution and the
harrowing events of her age.
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The much-desired palm of martyrdom denied to
Mother St. John was obtained by other Sisters of St.
Joseph belonging to convents sequestrated by the
political leaders of the Convention, and the following
names are authenticated: executed at Le Puy: Marie-
Anne Garnier, Sister St. Julien; Jeanne-Marie Aubert,
Sister Alexis; and at Privas: Mother Sainte Croix
Vincent, Sister Madeleine Senovert, and Sister Marie
Toussaint Dumoulin.

Truly these heroic souls had imbibed and now put
into practice the maxim of their holy founder so often
meditated upon in more peaceful days: “Choose to
suffer all the evils of this lower world rather than risk
losing the rewards of eternity.”

After his fall, the fierce passions and ruthless
cruelty which characterized the régime of Robespierre
subsided. The Revolution lost its apocalyptic, sym-
bolic aspect, and in the Thermidorean reaction, as
also in the government of the Directory, which
followed it, the desire was for the peace and security
of ordinary living. France had a foreign war upon
her hands which necessitated unity within her own
borders; consequently, there appeared a certain
amnesty and clemency, which included toleration of
Catholic worship. This amnesty, however, did not
go so far as to return the expropriated church lands
to their lawful owners; and religious women, despoiled
of their convents, had to seek shelter with relatives
or friends.

Mother St. John Fontbonne became the instru-
ment which God was to use in restoring the branch
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of the Congregation of St. Joseph whose fortunes we
are following. From 1794 until 1807, she led a life
of retirement in her father’s house at Bas. She re-
mained faithful to her religious ideals, and used every
opportunity which came her way to instruct the souls
of the young, who were deprived of the knowledge of
their faith by the tragic conditions of their times.

A new order began with the advent of Napoleon
Bonaparte, who, in 1799, overturned the Directory
and made himself despot of France. His genius for
organization made him realize that religion would be
helpful in achieving peace, so he revived the Catholic
religion, formed a Concordat with the Holy See, and
encouraged the foundation and restoration of religious
houses. It was the uncle of the Emperor, Joseph
Cardinal Fesch, Archbishop of Lyons, who now re-
stored the Institute of St. Joseph in this important
city.

In 1807, the attention of the Cardinal was directed
to Mother St. John through the intermediary of his
Vicar-General, the Very Reverend Claude Cholleton,
who, in his turn, had heard of her from Father
Hubert, a holy Capuchin friar. During the perse-
cutions the latter managed to evade arrest, and at
the risk of his life, brought the consolations of religion
to the proscribed Catholics of the mountainous
districts of Velay. An eloquent preacher, he was now
helping to revive the faith in the archdiocese of Lyons.

At St. Etienne, a prosperous town on the upper
Loire, Father Cholleton had under his direction some
pious women, among whom were dispersed Sisters of
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St. Joseph, not yet reorganized into a religious com-
munity, but awaiting God’s will in their regard. They
were known as the “Black Sisters” on account of
their black, inconspicuous dress, and they lived in two
different sections of the town, the Rue de la Bourse,
and the Rue de Mi-Caréme. The ecclesiastical au-
thorities arranged that Mother St. John should leave
her retreat and proceed to St. Etienne, to take charge
of these aspirants to the religious life. In July 1808,
they received the holy habit, and under the direction
of this spiritual daughter of Father Médaille, the true
mirror of his “Little Design,” they were constituted
into a Congregation of Sisters of St. Joseph. The
house of St. Etienne, therefore, became the nucleus
from which spread many branches, an expansion so
rapid that in order to preserve unity of spirit, a central
government and single novitiate were desirable.
Lyons was chosen for this amalgamation, and in 1816
Mother St. John was summoned to accomplish it.
The building chosen for the purpose was the
former monastery of the Carthusians, opposite the
Hill of Fourviere.! The “Charter house” of Lyons,
built on an immense scale, included the Church of
St. Bruno, of majestic proportions and ornate archi-
tecture, and it was, in the eighteenth century, second
in importance only to the Grande Chartreuse near
Grenoble. During the fury of the Revolution the

1Derived from the Latin forum vetus, the old Roman forum which
had existed from imperial times on the crest of the hill. The Christian
shrine which replaced the old forum was in the ninth century dedicated to
Our Mother of Good Counsel, and this representation of the Madonna has
always been especially venerated by the Sisters of St. Joseph of Lyons
and America.
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monastery had fallen into decay and its former occu-
pants had moved elsewhere, but the atmosphere of
the cloister still clung to the old walls and stairways.
These hallowed precincts thus became the cradle of
the Congregation of the Sisters of St. Joseph.

The history of Lyons has been glorious. The
Lugdunum! of the Gallo-Romans was a centre of
intellectual refinement and learning during the im-
perial régime. It was here that, in the second century
of our era, Christianity was introduced into Gaul by
St. Pothinus and his companions, who sealed with
their blood the faith they had implanted. On the
eve of the Renaissance its school of poetry was on a
par with the literary manner of Paris and Provence.
Its illustrious sons have brought honour to their city
in different fields of human endeavour; let it suffice
to mention Ampere, Victor de Laprade, Puvis de
Chavannes, in modern times. Truly the Congregation
of the Sisters of St. Joseph of Lyons took root in
precious soil, above all in the examples of religious
devotion to the neighbour found there in the various
works of mercy for the relief of human misery.

Under the guidance of Mother St. John Font-
bonne, the tree which came forth from humble roots
spread its branches far and wide. New Mother
Houses were established at Chambéry, Annecy, Bourg,
and Bordeaux. Under Mother St. John’s wise ad-
ministration, difficulties were overcome, new works
undertaken, and all the while she preserved the ideal

10f uncertain Celtic origin; perhaps from the god Lug and the ending
dunum, hill; or from the Celtic words Lougos dunum, the hill of marshes.
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inculcated by the holy founders, that of “an obscure
Institute.” In 1840 she laid down the burden of
government and spent the remaining years of her life
in the prayerful retirement for which she had always
longed. She died on November 22, 1843, and is buried
in the cemetery of Loyasse, on the Hill of Fourviere.

In 1836, Mother St. John sent a band of Sisters
across the seas to the distant shores of America.
These heroic souls, whose work and fortunes will
form the chief interest of succeeding chapters, were
to bring the “joy” of which the poet sings to remote
regions far distant from Le Puy, Monistrol, and
Lyons.

It will now be our task to follow these courageous
women through many vicissitudes, but joyful and
serene, active yet prayerful, protected and guided by
their holy patron, St. Joseph, who exercised as of old
his divinely given mission to direct those whom
obedience sends forth to unknown lands.







PART II - NORTH AMERICA

“Welcome, welcome on the mountain heights the messenger

that cries, All is well.”
—Isa1as v, 7
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exploration, intrepid navigators, allured by

the vision of routes to the Orient, sailed west-
ward. In their wake followed adventurers with
various aims, some in search of the fabulous wealth
of newly discovered lands, a number for political
domination, and others for an outlet for superfluous
energy held in check by the conventional restraints
of European civilizations. They were accompanied
always by the adventurers of the spirit, who planted
the Cross beside the flag of France or Spain, and
brought to the natives the knowledge of the true God.

Franciscan friars, Dominicans, and Jesuits were
in the foreground from north to south of the new
continent, and they assumed an important share in
the diffusion of the old cultures of Europe.

It is a far cry from the names of Marie de I'Incar-
nation, Blessed Marguerite Bourgeois, and Jeanne
Mance, the heroines of the Canadian saga, to the
little band of Sisters of St. Joseph sent by Mother St.
John Fontbonne to America in the year 1836; but
the outlook on life of the later missionaries was in
many respects the same as those of the seventeenth
century. They were alike in religious formation and
national traditions, and they were inspired by the

37

DURING the period of geographical discovery and
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same zeal for souls that led to a readiness to endure
all the privations and sufferings incident to new
foundations.

The scene of their first missionary labours was
that part of the present United States of America
situated on the banks of the Mississippi River, in the
upper sections of what was known in the first Euro-
pean occupation as Louisiana. This vast territory,
extending from the Great Lakes to the Gulf of
Mexico, was explored at the behest of the French
governor at Quebec by the saintly Jesuit, Father
Marquette, his companion, the voyageur Joliet, and
by the Chevalier de La Salle. Following the great
river in its southwards course, La Salle finally reached
its mouth in 1682 and took possession of the country
in the name of the King of France. It remained under
the domination of the French until the collapse of
the French colonial power which resulted from the
defeat of the Seven Years’ War and the Treaty of
Paris of 1763. Even before this date, by the secret
Treaty of Fontainebleau, the former territory of
Louisiana west of the Mississippi was allotted to
Spain, that on the east to England.

During his régime Napoleon sought to restore the
prestige of France in America, and acquired by a
secret treaty that portion of Louisiana formerly ceded
to Spain. In 1803, however, fear of an English in-
vasion induced him to sell Louisiana to the new
United States of America.

In the following year the country was divided by
Congress into two portions; the upper part, Missouri,
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was organized as a territory in 1812, and as a state
of the Union in 1821. By the Missouri Compromise,
slavery was legalized in the beginning, but in the
struggle between the North and South, the State
eventually rallied to the support of the North. The
early records of the missionaries include the names of
many negro slaves side by side with those of Indians
and whites.

The ecclesiastical jurisdiction of the territory
corresponded in a general way to the political govern-
ment. From 1639 to 1674 it was directed by the
Vicariate-Apostolic of Canada. It came subsequently
under the direction of the diocese of Quebec, and,
during the Spanish domination, under that of Santi-
ago de Cuba, Havana, and later, from 1793 to 1826,
under the dioceses of Louisiana and the Floridas.

During this early period the names of French
priests predominate, and the bishops of Quebec as
well as the Superiors of the Jesuits and the Récollets
generously responded to the appeals for more mission-
aries to provide for the spiritual needs of the newly
settled districts.

To the successive generations of French mission-
aries who, in answer to the call of the Divine Harvester
of souls, spent themselves so completely, there could
be applied in all truth, in America as well as in the
far East, these words of Cardinal Vaughan:

It is not easy to calculate what we owe to the Church of
France, to its generosity for the support of the Christian faith.
Our obligations towards this country are extraordinarily great;

there is no nation in the world which produces so many lives
devoted to heroism, so much disinterested courage.
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Among the names found in the early records still
extant is that of Father Pinet, S.J., who, in 1793, on
the Illinois bank of the Mississippi, was evangelizing
the Tamoroa Indians in the district opposite Caronde-
let. Somewhat later Father Gravier, S.J., founded
the mission of the Immaculate Conception on the site
of the Indian village of Kaskaskia, Illinois. The first
centre of civilization in the Mississippi Valley, how-
ever, was Cahokia, Illinois, where Father Pinet built
in 1700 the first church in honour of the Holy Family
for the French families from Canada who had settled
there. Other colonies in charge of the Jesuit Fathers
existed on the sites of the present Ste Genevieve and
Fort Chartres.

One among these villages, St. Louis, was to forge
ahead and become a great modern metropolis. Al-
though the French influence has died away, the story
of the romantic origins of this city under its French
founders is a tale in which the material expansion is,
as its very name implies, interwoven with an ad-
venture of the spirit.

The city of St. Louis was first settled by French-
men, who with their leader, a French nobleman,
Pierre Lacléde Liguest, founded there in 1764 a
branch of a commercial firm of which Liguest was
the director in New Orleans. A fervent Catholic, he
named the settlement St. Louis, after the noblest of
French rulers, St. Louis IX (1226-1270).

This site was a happy choice, for the natural
terrace upon which the city developed, one hundred
feet above the river, proved a barrier against the
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disastrous floods which occurred when the Mississippi
overflowed its banks; whereas at Cahokia on the
Illinois side, which was not so protected, the settlers,
including the Sisters of St. Joseph, were obliged to
abandon their homes.

As an example of the youthful initiative of the
early settlers, it is interesting to note that a boy of
fourteen, Auguste Chouteau, was delegated by the
founder of St. Louis to be his lieutenant in the
planning and developing of the new colony.

In 1764, St. Louis became the capital of Upper
Louisiana. The inhabitants seem to have been un-
aware of the political changes, and it was only in
1770, under Don Pedro Pierras, that Spain took
possession of this territory which was to remain under
Spanish rule until 1803.

With the opening of the new century, a period of
development began with the consecration of the
Sulpician, Father William Louis Valentine Du Bourg,
as Bishop of New Orleans, in 1815. The warring
elements in this city prevented the new Bishop from
taking up his abode in his episcipal residence and led
to his settling in St. Louis, to the great advantage of
this newly erected city. In 1826, St. Louis itself
was created a bishopric, the first incumbent of the
new See being Bishop Joseph Rosati, a name ever
dear to the Sisters of St. Joseph in America. In the
list of founders and protectors of the Congregation
he ranks with Bishop de Maupas, Father Médaille,
Archbishop de Villars, Bishop de Galard, and Father
Cholleton.
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Joseph Rosati was born at Sora in the Kingdom
of Naples in 1789. He was remarkable for his piety
and entered at an early age St. Vincent de Paul’s
Congregation of the Mission at Rome, where he was
ordained priest in 1812.

The priests of this Congregation, the Lazarists,
did not escape the arbitrary interference of Napoleon
in the ecclesiastical as well as the political affairs of
the countries conquered during his meteoric progress
over Europe, and were suppressed. Yet we find
Father Rosati fulfilling his priestly functions in Rome
when Bishop Du Bourg was consecrated there in
1815. The former was chosen to be one of the band
of Lazarists who were going to America in order to
take charge of a seminary and to devote themselves
to missionary work in his new diocese. By 1820
Father Rosati had become Superior of the new
seminary at Barrens, Perry County, Missouri, and
Vicar-General of Bishop Du Bourg. His success in
organizing the resources of the many works under-
taken for the glory of God and the salvation of souls
in these far-flung territories was so phenomenal that
in 1826 he was created Bishop of the recently erected
diocese of St. Louis.

Bishop Rosati’s zeal and talents as an adminis-
trator increased with his new responsibilities. In
1831 he laid the cornerstone of a cathedral destined,
by reason of its admirable architecture and construc-
tion, to be the pride of old St. Louis for more than
three-quarters of a century. The cathedral was
consecrated in 1834, and to-day it still stands on the
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site which will form part of a National Park to be
erected on the waterfront.

In 1840 Bishop Rosati was appointed by the Holy
Father Pius IX to be Apostolic Delegate to the Re-
public of Haiti, from where, after successfully ad-
justing its relations with the Holy See, he went to
Rome in 1843 to assist in drawing up the Concordat
which had been agreed upon. In the midst of the
negotiations his health failed, and on the advice of
his physicians he returned to the house of his Congre-
gation in Rome where he died on September 25, 1843.



CHAPTER FIVE

THE CONGREGATION
IN AMERICA

N IMPORTANT contribution to the advance of
A religion in Bishop Rosati’s diocese was his
introduction of religious communities of men
and women who admirably seconded the zeal and
religious influence of the holy Bishop. It was during
Bishop Rosati’s episcopate in the See of St. Louis,
that a combination of circumstances, providentially
interwoven, led to the establishment in that city of
the Sisters of St. Joseph of Lyons.

At this period the Society of the Propagation of
the Faith, now world-wide in its scope and activities,
was functioning successfully in Lyons under the
impelling direction of Pauline Marie Jaricot, its
foundress. This lowly seamstress, inspired by God,
became, as is often the case with His instruments,
the originator of a society whose end was to aid
distant missions and their priests in the evangelizing
of the natives still without the knowledge of the true
God. The work, well known at this time, had been
solemnly approved by Pius VII in 1813.

In the year 1834, Bishop Rosati, embarrassed by
lack of money as well as of priests, made an appeal to
the Society through the mediation of Reverend
Charles Cholleton (nephew of the protector of the
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Congregation of the Sisters of St. Joseph). The
Society responded generously, and Father Cholleton
also interested Monsignor de Pins, Archbishop of
Lyons, in his request for priests.

The Annals of the Propagation of the Faith, follow-
ing the usual custom, published an account of the
distribution of the alms of the associates, and the
report of Bishop Rosati’s work in the wilds of
America gave such a touching picture of this distant
territory that it aroused the intense interest of one
of the Society’s most important benefactors, the
Comtesse de la Rochejaquelin (zée Duras). Félicité
Duras was the daughter of the Duchesse de Duras
d’Ussé, whose estates were in Touraine. When very
young, she married the Prince de Talmont, a Ven-
dean. Soon left a widow, she inherited his vast
possessions and later those of her mother, and thus
became immensely wealthy. Her second marriage
was with the Comte de la Rochejaquelin, scion of an
old aristocratic family of La Vendée which was con-
nected with the older Bourbons. The Countess and
her husband, loyal to the deposed rulers, were forced
to go into exile into Switzerland. When she became
a second time a widow, the Countess devoted the
remainder of her life to works of piety and zeal for the
glory of God and the salvation of souls.

She had known the Sisters of St. Joseph in
Chambéry, and impressed by their devotion to the
neighbour in the various works of mercy, she wished
to identify herself with them by using her wealth to
help them with new foundations. She had already
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aided Annecy, had established the Sisters in schools
in Touraine and La Vendée, and she was now inspired
to become an instrument of God to introduce her
beloved Sisters of St. Joseph into North America.
Probably this was not the first time that the New
World had presented itself to her romantic imagi-
nation. She belonged to the generation which had
been enchanted by the magic pages of Chateaubriand.
She had enjoyed the glowing pictures of the turbulent
Mississippi, the marvellous flora of the valleys, and
the noble-minded redskins, Chactas and Atala,!
wandering through the virgin forests. No doubt the
reality was very different, but this theory of the “good
savage” elicited for the protégés of the missionaries
the sympathy of Europeans.

The letter of the Countess with its proposal of
her plan was a surprise to Bishop Rosati, who had
not thought of introducing a community of nuns into
his diocese, since several sisterhoods were already
established there. The Society of the Sacred Heart
under their saintly Superior Blessed Philippine Du-
chesne had been evangelizing the natives and pioneer
settlers since 1818. There were also at this time the
Sisters of Loretto from Kentucky, the Georgetown
Visitation nuns, and the Sisters of Charity of Emmits-
burg, Maryland, engaged in various works.

When the Bishop delayed in answering the letter
of the Countess, she wrote a second one of great
length in which she gave a detailed explanation of her

1Characters in Atala, an episode included in the author’s work Les
Natchez and later on incorporated in his monumental work Le Génie du
Christianisme.
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reasons for wishing to establish this additional colony
‘of religious in America. For herself, she had even
made a vow to send six Sisters to North America to
convert the Indians and instruct their children. Her
letter continues with a naive eulogy of her protégées:

My Lord, perhaps you do not know these Sisters. They follow
the rule of St. Augustine, they make perpetual vows and they
devote themselves zealously to all the works of charity. Their
rule imposes on them the virtues of the cloister joined to the
exterior virtues demanded by their burning love of their
fellow-men.

After summing up the wide range of their activities,
she continues:

My Lord, if you had seen as I have, this Congregation of St.
Joseph, you would admire their spirit of poverty, and of
humility, truly apostolic.

Finally she offers to increase her alms for this purpose,
and to provide the funds necessary for the journey to
America and the installation of the Sisters there.

Bishop Rosati, much impressed by the Countess’s
appeal, promised finally to approach Reverend
Mother St. John of Lyons, and he even went so far
as to suggest that the number of Sisters should be
increased to eight, so that two of them might devote
themselves to the teaching of the deaf by means of
the sign language.

Madame de la Rochejaquelin rejoiced over the
Bishop’s promise, and continued to interest herself
in the American missions. Long after this, in 1867,
she had the happiness of receiving in her home at
Ussé in Touraine, the Superior-General of Carondelet,
Mother Agatha Guthrie. Her last years were spent
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here, near the convent of “her dear Sisters,” as she
always called them. On account of her rank and vast
possessions, she had suffered much during the political
strife of her age. But she had always taken the side
of justice and right, and the cause of religion was her
first interest. She died at Ussé, January 7, 1883.
Among her last bequests was one to her “dear Sisters
" in America.”

When Mother St. John was first approached about
the New World foundation, she hesitated, not certain
at first whether God willed that her Sisters should
undertake this arduous work. She began, neverthe-
less, to prepare them for her eventual acceptance of
it and gradually instructed them so that they would
realize that Sisters destined for the foreign missions
should look forward to a life of poverty and entire
abnegation, and that they should be prepared to
make the sacrifice of the spiritual consolations and
advantages of their community life in France, where
everything conduced to the pursuit and attainment
of holiness.

After consulting with Bishop Rosati, Mother St.
John, with her spirit of faith, saw the will of God in
his request for Sisters, and wholeheartedly acceded
to it. She next asked for volunteers for the under-
taking. A large number responded to her appeal, and
it was a joy for her to realize that after nearly two
hundred years, her daughters should still be living the
words of Bishop de Maupas, who, handing them their
profession cross in 1651, addressed them thus:

My daughters, wear this cross openly, bear it bravely, carry
it down the ways of pain into the homes of fever, into the
dwellings of the poor, into far-off lands.
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Nevertheless the parting was to be a sorrowful
one for Mother St. John and her daughters. Among
the Sisters chosen for America were her two nieces,
daughters of her brother Claude: Sister Fébronie and
Sister Delphine Fontbonne, aged thirty and twenty-
eight years respectively. The remaining four volun-
teers to be sent were Sister Marguerite-Félicité Bouté,
Sister Fébronie Chapellon, Sister Saint Protais De-
boille, and Sister Philomene Vilaine. The two chosen
to remain in France until they had perfected them-
selves in the sign language were Sister Celestine
Pommerel and a postulant, afterwards Sister St. John
Fournier. Both distinguished themselves later on in
important works of the Congregation.

" The little band left Lyons on January 4, 1836, by
stage. They remained a few days in Paris with the
Sisters of Charity before going on to Le Havre to
await the sailing of their ship, the Heidelberg. They
were joined there by a seminarian from Lyons, John
Escoffier, who together with Father James Font-
bonne, nephew of Mother St. John and brother of
Sisters Fébronie and Delphine, had volunteered for
the foreign missions.

During their stay in Le Havre the Sisters were
hospitably received by Madame Dodard, whose name
is ever held in grateful remembrance by the Sisters of
St. Joseph in America. She provided most generously
for their wants both before and after their sailing.

The Heidelberg sailed on January 17. Many inter-
esting details of the voyage are recorded in the diary
of Sister St. Protais, which is still preserved in the
archives at Carondelet. Sister St. Protais describes
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in quaint broken English the distribution of their
time on ship-board, their fellow travellers, the storms
at sea and the days of calm, and the wonders of the
pathless ocean, which were for them a never-ending
series of marvellous phenomena.

A furious gale near the Gulf of Mexico threatened
to dash the ship against the rocks. Heaven was
stormed, however, and the danger was averted.
Finally, on March 5 they reached New Orleans after a
journey of forty-nine days.

Here the Sisters were received by the Ursuline
nuns, and for two weeks their kind hostesses did
everything possible to enable them to recover their
strength after their long and exhausting voyage.
Bishop Rosati, who chanced to be in New Orleans
when the news of their arrival came, hastened to
meet them and to tell them of his plans for the work
which he intended them to take over in his diocese.
He had already decided that they should have charge
of the schools in the towns of Cahokia and Carondelet.

Following the advice of the Ursulines, the Sisters
disguised their religious habit when they left the
convent, and put on the cap and veil worn by widows
of the time. This was to safeguard themselves from
the attacks of an anti-Catholic movement which
broke out from time to time in different parts of the
United States, and which vented its hatred of re-
ligion on members of the religious orders.

Accompanied by Bishop Rosati, Father Font-
bonne, and M. Escoffier, the little band set out from
New Orleans March 15 on the steamer George Collier.
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The ascent of the Mississippi was slow and tedious.
From the deck of their vessel they saw the vast tracts
of country still uncultivated and diversified by its
thick pathless forests. At the various landing-places
the motley crowd which greeted them gave them their
first impressions of the people whom they had come
to serve.

On March 25 they reached St. Louis, and were
conducted at once by the Bishop to the cathedral,
where they thanked God for their safe arrival.

It was exactly seventy days since they had left
Lyons. The anxieties incidental to this long journey,
some of it accomplished under primitive conditions,
had been a most trying ordeal for these gently nurtured
Sisters, accustomed as they were to the refinements
of European life.

Although it had been Bishop Rosati’s intention
that the Sisters of St. Joseph should occupy the house
from which the Sisters of Charity were transferring
their orphans to a larger building in St. Louis, a delay
in making this change made it necessary for the
French Sisters to be accommodated in a cottage on
the grounds of the hospital, also in charge of the
Sisters of Charity.

Thus it came about that the first mission of the
Sisters of St. Joseph was Cahokia, the original village
situated on the Illinois bank of the Mississippi, almost
opposite St. Louis, which had been settled by French
pioneers from Canada, descendants of whom were the
present inhabitants. They were a worthy industrious
people, faithful to the religious teaching of the first



52 NORTH AMERICA

Jesuit missionaries who had been succeeded by priests
of the seminary of Quebec.

After the taking over of Illinois by the English, in
1762, the ecclesiastical jurisdiction was more or less
unsettled; but in 1836 a zealous Lazarist, Father
Peter Doutreluingne, had been in charge of the mis-
sion for some years, and his parishioners were glad to
co-operate with him in welcoming these new religious
teachers.

French was still spoken, and although it had de-
teriorated much from the refined stage of the language
which the ancestors of these villagers brought to
Canada from the France of Louis XIV, nevertheless
it possessed a certain charm for the ears of the exiles.

The Sisters chosen for Cahokia by Bishop Rosati
were Sister Fébronie Fontbonne, Superior, Sister Fé-
bronie Chapellon, and Sister St. Protais Deboille.
Father Doutreluingne and his people had succeeded
in providing a convent and school-building commodi-
ous enough to shelter the Sisters and thirty or more
day-scholars as well as five boarders.

The Bishop, accompanied by the little band of
religious, left St. Louis on April 7, shortly after the
close of the ceremonies of Holy Week and Easter.
They crossed the river, and were enthusiastically re-
ceived by a large concourse of the inhabitants, who
formed a veritable cortége to guide them through the
woods to their new habitation, opposite the village
church. The good feeling between people and teach-
ers lasted during the years of the Sisters’ sojourn in
Cahokia; but the forces of nature were against any
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permanent foundation in this locality. The yearly
floods caused by the devastating overflow of the
Mississippi were not only a menace which threatened
the destruction of their buildings each spring, but the
swampy ground which resulted after the waters re-
ceded was a constant cause of malaria and other
distempers. Finally, after the catastrophic flood of
1844, the mission was reluctantly abandoned and the
Sisters withdrew to their convents in St. Louis and
Carondelet, which were by this time well established.



CHAPTER SIX

THE MOTHER HOUSE,
CARONDELET

Carondelet evokes in a very special way the
picture of those heroic souls who, in the words
of the late Cardinal Glennon,

left their home, their country, and their friends, and bade adieu
to the fertile plains and the vine-clad hills of their native land.
Theirs had been a journey of four thousand miles over the
waters of a turbulent sea, with no impelling force except the

will of God and the winds that fitfully blew.

FOR the Sisters of St. Joseph in America, the name

Eventually, after the delays which we have noted,
the weary band of Sisters reached their final desti-
nation, Carondelet.

Like St. Louis this settlement was founded by a
French nobleman. A desire for new scenes led
Clement Delor de Treget to explore the country on
the Louisiana side of the Mississippi, north of the Des
Peres River. There he picked out a picturesque site
about six miles south of St. Louis, and in 1767 ob-
tained from the military governor of Upper Louisiana,
St. Ange de Bellerive, permission to settle on it. Other
Frenchmen followed de Treget and established homes
along this west bank of the river. The village and,
later on, the district of St. Louis into which it de-
veloped, was called Carondelet in honour of the last
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Spanish Governor-General of Louisiana, Baron de
Carondelet.

At this period the inhabitants numbered about
two hundred. The church, Our Lady of Mount Car-
mel, was built on high ground, safe from the annual
floods, and close by was the log cabin occupied by the
Sisters of Charity and their orphan boys. On the
departure of these, the Sisters of St. Joseph were to
take possession and begin their work as teachers. Of
the three Sisters left in St. Louis after the departure
for Cahokia, two of them, Sister Delphine and Sister
Félicité, spent these months of waiting for their
duties to begin in the study of the English language,
under their kind instructresses, the Religious of the
Sacred Heart. The third, Sister Philomeéne, went to
Cahokia to replace Sister St. Protais, who, a first
victim of the unhealthy climate, had been obliged to
return to St. Louis for some time.

The Sisters of Charity left Carondelet for St.
Louis on July 22, 1836. Sister Delphine as Superior,
with Sister Félicité, took possession of the vacated
dwelling on September 12. We do not need the blue-
prints of an architect to visualize the structure. We
are told that a passage-way which led from the front
door divided the ground space into two rooms, each
fifteen by twenty feet. An attic overhead, reached
by a ladder from the outside, and two sheds com-
pleted the building.

Sisters of St. Joseph, inspired by the thought of
their holy patron, are wont to idealize a new foun-
dation and to see in it a replica of the lowly home of
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Nazareth, which presents a model of the virtues which
they are called upon to practise, when difficulties that
arise often from the lack of temporal goods call for a
spirit of self-abnegation and self-sacrifice.

The log cabin of Carondelet certainly called for
such a spirit, for the privations were numerous: lack
of space to house properly the Sisters and their
charges, the severities of the winters, for which they
were ill-provided, and especially, the infrequency of
news from the Old World.

We may imagine the joy of the Sisters, in Sep-
tember 1837, at the anxiously awaited and almost
despaired of arrival of Sister Celestine Pommerel and
Sister St. John Fournier. The two sisters had com-
pleted their course of study of the sign language some
months before this date, and had left for America in
April; but many things conspired to retard their
arrival, without allowing them an opportunity of
explaining the delay to the friends who were expect-
ing them.

In January 1838, the first American postulant,
Anne Eliza Dillon, received the religious habit with
the name of Sister Marie Francis Joseph. She had
been educated by the Religious of the Sacred Heart
in St. Louis and her attainments in both French and
English made her a most valuable addition to the
band of French Sisters. Her religious life was destined
to be short, but during those few years (she died in
1842), she edified both her companions and her pupils
by her spirit of simplicity and humility, which, in so
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short a space of time had made her a consummate
model of the virtues of her Congregation.

In the spring of the year 1838 increased accommo-
dation in the log cabin was provided by the addition
of a second storey, of several rooms on the ground
floor, and of wide porches facing the river.

From this time on the growth of the Community
was assured. The Sisters were requested by the lay
authorities to take charge of the teaching of girls in
Carondelet, for which adequate salaries were ar-
ranged, and a fund was provided for the maintenance
of a school for the deaf.

The struggles and hardships of these first three
years had been bravely borne by the Sisters of the
mission and Mother Delphine felt the need of being
relieved of her heavy responsibilities as Superior. At
her request, therefore, she was transferred to Cahokia
as assistant teacher. Since the teaching of English was
becoming very important she endeavoured to perfect
herself in that language by devoting some time to
studying it with the Visitation nuns at Kaskaskia.

Mother Delphine was succeeded in her duties as
Superior of Carondelet, in August 1839, by Mother
Celestine Pommerel, an appointment by Bishop
Rosati which was officially recognized in Lyons. It
will be remembered that before setting out for the
American missions Mother Celestine had been sent
to spend some time learning the sign language, and
she had acquired great facility in this arduous method
of teaching the deaf, which has been superseded to-
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day by training in lip reading. Furthermore, the very
excellent education which she had received in the
Convent of the Sisters of St. Charles at Macon, in the
Department of Ain, stood her in good stead in the
organization and expansion of the Congregation which
now began.

The Mother House at Carondelet was consider-
ably enlarged between 1841 and 1846, and the records
of the school there, first known as “Madam Celestine’s
School,” show an increase from year to year in the
numbers of pupils. This is the period of the precious
Memoirs of Eliza McKenny Brouillet, preserved in
manuscript in the Carondelet archives. Eliza had
spent several years in the boarding-school and never
lost her love for her old teachers.

In 1842, Mother Delphine returned to Carondelet
where she was appointed to teach French in the
Academy, but in 1845, when Mother Celestine agreed,
at the request of the Vincentian Fathers, that her
Community should assume the teaching of the first
parish school in St. Louis, known originally as the
Immaculate Conception, and later as St. Vincent’s
School, Mother Delphine was appointed Superior of
the mission, with Sister Mary Francis Nally and
Sister Martha Bunning as assistants.

Mother Delphine was now thirty-eight years of
age. She had already undertaken and accomplished
much in St. Louis. At this time two great sorrows
darkened her path. In 1843 she lost her well-beloved
aunt, Mother St. John Fontbonne. Although divided
by the wide expanse of ocean, the words of affection
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and encouragement the latter so faithfully sent her
had been a solace in many a difficult hour, and an
incentive to remain true to her ideals, and to practise,
ever more perfectly, those maxims of perfection incul-
cated by the words of their holy founder.

A second heavy cross was the departure in 1844 of
her dear sister, Sister Fébronie, for France. In that
year Cahokia was completely submerged by the
annual floods; the furious waters reached the second
storey of the convent and Sister Fébronie suffered so
much from the effects of this exposure that it was
considered better for her health that she return to
Lyons. Mother Sacred Heart Tezenas, who had re-
placed Mother St. John as Superior-General there,
decided that, on account of the difficulties of the
journey and the fact that the English language was
necessary in the United States at that period, the
American missions should become autonomous; so
Sister Fébronie Chapellon, who had also returned to
her native land, remained in France. When Mother
Fébronie Fontbonne later recovered her health, she
became Superior of the Convent of St. Joseph at
Changy, France, where she died in 1881.

In 1847, a further development occurred when
Mother Celestine acceded to the request of the Right
Reverend Francis Patrick Kenrick, Bishop of Phila-
delphia and brother of Peter Richard, at this time
Bishop of St. Louis,! that she should send a Com-

1Bishop Francis Patrick Kenrick was consecrated Bishop of Baltimore
in 1851. Bishop Peter Richard Kenrick was consecrated Bishop of St.
Louis in 1847.
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munity of her Sisters to take charge of St. John’s
Orphanage in the former city. The Superior ap-
pointed was Mother St. John Fournier. Soon other
missions were established and St. Joseph’s Hospital,
acquired in 1849, became the principal house. The
novitiate, which had been at the orphanage, was
removed under the direction of Mother St. John.
This double burden was too great for her, however,
and, in June 1850, Mother Celestine sent Mother
Delphine and Sister Martha Bunning to relieve her,
the former as Superior of the Orphanage and Mistress
of Novices. The novitiate was moved back to the
orphanage, while Mother St. John Fournier remained
the Superior of the hospital and diocesan head of the
Philadelphia houses.

St. John’s Orphan Asylum occupied a building on
the corner of 13th and Chestnut Streets, known as
“the Gothic Mansion.” This first house of the Sisters
of St. Joseph in Philadelphia was a splendid structure,
one of the architectural gems of the city. It had been
erected first as a private dwelling, and it became
later a seminary for young ladies.

The Sisters in charge no doubt found the atmos-
phere of this stronghold of the followers of William
Penn a great contrast to St. Louis with its French
Catholic background, and, in truth, recurrences of
the outbursts known as the “Native American” riots
broke out at intervals, to their great inconvenience.
However, following the advice of the holy Jesuit,
Father Barbelin, they went on their way without
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noticing the hostile attitude of their enemies, and
gradually the prejudice against them died down.

In 1851, with the establishment of the Congre-
gation of St. Joseph in Toronto, Canada, there began
a divergence of the ways, and although they were
nominally under the jurisdiction of St. Louis until
1860, the ecclesiastical superiors of the Canadian
branch did not consider that a continued connection
with Carondelet was feasible, hence the Canadian
Communities reluctantly severed the exterior bond
with their revered Mother House. They have always
considered, however, that their birthright of daughters
of Le Puy, Lyons, and Carondelet is their most
cherished possession.







PART 111 - CANADA

The love of Christ brings us together as one. Rejoice and be
glad in Him. (I Joun 2. 3. 4.)

(The Roman Missal
Antiphon for Holy Thursday)
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CHAPTER SEVEN

TORONTO, CANADA

shifts to Toronto, Canada. In 1849 this city was

considered of sufficient importance to be chosen
by the Governor, Lord Elgin, as one of the seats of
the Canadian government. Toronto and the city of
Quebec were to be in turn the capitals of Canada for a
period of four years.

IN tHE middle of the nineteenth century the scene

The origin of the word “Toronto” is doubtful.
Scholars consider that it may be derived from the
name of a Huron chief, d’Arontal, who was prominent
at an early date in the region of Lake Simcoe, but a
more popular opinion is that it was an Indian word
for “meeting place.”

The appellation “Toronto” was used early in the
seventeenth century to designate, in general, the land,
rivers, and lakes of the north shore of Lake Ontario
near its western extremity. The name was gradually
reserved for a pebbly shore in this area, which was the
site of an Indian encampment and the beginning of a
trail which followed the direction of the present
Yonge Street as far as Lake Simcoe and Georgian Bay.

This beach was protected by a sand-bar, dignified
in common parlance by the title of “peninsula,” as it
was joined to the mainland at the eastern end by a
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narrow isthmus. It extended from east to west for a
distance of about six miles, and formed a natural
protection for the harbour, known as Toronto Bay.
In 1854 the isthmus was submerged and the peninsula
became an island. As a result, the entrance to the
harbour, known to-day as the “Eastern Gap,” allowed
vessels to enter Toronto Bay from the east as well as
from the west.

In picturesqueness Toronto could not vie with the
older settlements of Quebec and Mount Royal. No
panorama of such wondrous beauty as these latter
presented met the eyes of the early traveller who ex-
plored the western part of the “Great Lake,” as Lake
Ontario was called. However, a dark forest of oak
trees formed an attractive background for the rising
ground which was to be cleared and developed later.

The name must have pleased the fancy of the poet
Moore, who in his travels in America in 1804 gives
Toronto a place of honour in his Lines Addressed to
Lady Rawden, in which occurs the couplet:

Where the blue hills of old Toronto shed
Their evening shadows o’er Ontario’s bed,

Although the north shore of Lake Ontario and the
early trading-post were well known to explorers dur-
ing the seventeenth century, yet the official date of
the foundation of the town was much later. In 1793,
the Governor of Upper Canada, John Graves Simcoe,
founded Toronto and a few weeks later renamed it
York, in honour of the son of George III. In 1796
the Governor moved the seat of government to York
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from Fort Niagara, which he considered to be danger-
ously near the American border.

In 1834, when York reached the status of a city,
it reverted to its earlier name, Toronto. Although
the foundation and subsequent development of To-
ronto as a centre of population was almost two
centuries behind that of Quebec and Montreal, it
progressed rapidly after the turn of the century under
the capable administration of the lieutenant-governors
of Upper Canada. In truth, this was often accompa-
nied by a good deal of political chicanery, and the
conflicts between the members of the “Family
Compact,” with their claim to form a privileged class,
and the more democratic followers of William Lyon
Mackenzie make interesting reading.

Under the patronage of Mrs. Simcoe, wife of the
Governor, York early became the scene of much social
activity. In her Diary, this lady gives us details of
the daily routine of herself and her associates. A
favourite diversion was walking or riding. The pen-
insula was a popular resort. Mrs. Simcoe and her
companions left the town at the foot of the present
Woodbine Avenue and either walked or rode on the
“Peninsula” as far as Gibraltar Point, so called be-
cause the Governor considered that it might be
developed into an impregnable fortress.

Toronto, or Fort Rouillé, as the French traders
often called it, did not become prominent during the
French occupation of Canada. In 1791, the western
territory was separated from Lower Canada, and
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what was known first as Upper Canada, and later as
the Province of Ontario, emerged.

The Catholic religion, no longer dependent on the
Récollet, Jesuit, and Sulpician missionaries, came
under the jurisdiction of the Bishop of Quebec.
French ceased to be the language of the Catholic
body, which was made up of Scottish and Irish emi-
grants, and although the Church in Canada enjoyed
more liberties than in the old lands, still it had many
disabilities with which to cope. C. P. Mulvaney tells
us, in Toronto, Past and Present, that Catholic activi-
ties began in York about 1801. The first religious
services were conducted by missionaries on their way
to Detroit and the River St. Clair. The first Catholic
church in Toronto, St. Paul’s, was completed in 1826.

Among the zealous priests in whose ministrations
to the sparsely settled Catholic settlements of Upper
Canada Toronto shared, an outstanding name is that
of the Right Reverend Edmund Burke, D.D. He
was born at Maryborough, near Hopewell, County
Kildare, Ireland, in 1753. In accordance with the
practice of the time, he was educated on the Conti-
nent. In Paris he obtained the highest distinction in
philosophy and mathematics. After his ordination
he took charge of the parish in his native town; but
the lure of the foreign missions determined him to go
to North America, where he arrived in 1786.

A volume would be necessary to record the achieve-
ments of this ardent missionary who, with enthusiasm
and intensity of purpose, blazed the trail from 1796
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on, through the unexplored regions of western Upper
Canada. By his appeals to the bishops of Quebec,
he laid the foundations of an organized system of
Catholic missionaries for this section of the country.

In 1815 the vast diocese of Quebec was divided by
Rome. Nova Scotia was created a Vicariate-
Apostolic and Father Burke was appointed Vicar.
He was also named Titular Bishop of Zion and conse-
crated, in Quebec, by Bishop Plessis on July 5, 1818.

Although he spent the last years of his life labour-
ing in the Maritimes, the Bishop never lost interest
in the west, and it seems worthy of noting that it was
he who inspired the Halifax student, Michael Power,
later first Bishop of Toronto, to enter the ecclesiasti-
cal state. He died in 1820. Itis probable that Bishop
Burke! celebrated the first Mass in Toronto.

That the religious situation in the western regions
of Ontario at the close of the first forty years of the
century forged ahead and kept pace with the material
progress of the pioneering movement of the country,
was the result in great part, of the accomplishments
of that ‘“‘great missionary prelate and patriot,”
the Honourable and Right Reverend Alexander
Macdonell.

Bishop Macdonell was born at Inchlaggan, Glen-
garry, Scotland, on July 17, 1762. His early education
was obtained at Strathglass and he afterwards at-

1His collateral descendants, the late Father Edmund Burke Lawler, a
resident of Toronto, and the latter’s niece and grand-niece, the late Miss
Gertrude Lawler, LL.D., and Miss Miriam Walsh, have been generous
benefactors of the Sisters of St. Joseph in this city.
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tended the Seminary at Scalan. Because he seemed
destined for the priesthood, his parents sent him to
be educated on the Continent. He went first to the
Scots’ College in Paris. The social and political up-
heaval that was to culminate in the Revolution had
already started and it was considered advisable for
him to transfer to the Scots’ College at Valladolid,
Spain, where he was ordained priest on April 16, 1787.

His talents as an organizer brought Father Mac-
donell into prominence with government authorities
in the Old Country, and he had enough influence with
them to bring a large number of Catholic Highlanders
to Canada in 1804. He settled them on lands granted
by the British government, and began his religious
ministrations when appointed Vicar-General by the
Bishop of Quebec in 1807, and Assistant Bishop in
1819. Although the diocese of Quebec had been
divided by Rome in 1815, the British government did
not agree to that division until 1826. Thus in this
same year on February 14, Upper Canada was
erected into a bishopric, and Bishop Macdonell be-
came Bishop of Regiopolis (Kingston).

In 1831, public confidence in his abilities was
demonstrated again when Bishop Macdonell was
called to the Legislative Council of Ontario (hence
his title, “Honourable”). His activity extended to
every domain of religious and public welfare, and it
is interesting to note that in 1832 he obtained the first
grant of public money for a Catholic school in On-
tario, that of St. Andrew’s, Stormont County. His
death occurred on January 14, 1840 in his native land
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whither he had gone to interest bishops in Ireland
and Scotland in a scheme of emigration. In 1861 his
remains were brought to Kingston where he was
buried beneath the cathedral.

On December 17, 1841, Pope Gregory XVI di-
vided the diocese of Kingston, the population of
which, owing to the large emigration from the mother
country, had become too large for one man to cope
with adequately. On the same day the Very Reverend
Michael Power, who was Vicar-General of the diocese
of Montreal, and in charge of the important parish
of Laprairie, was named the first Bishop of this new
diocese, with the privilege of choosing the place and
the title of his bishopric. He accordingly chose
Toronto as his Episcopal See, and he was consecrated
in the parish church of Laprairie on May 8, 1842.

Bishop Power was born in Halifax, Nova Scotia,
on October 17, 1804. His parents, of Irish origin,
were devout Catholics, and his childhood and youth
were a presage of the saintly qualities which charac-
terized his later life in his various fields of labour as
pastor, missionary, and bishop. As has already been
mentioned he was sent at the age of twelve, on the
suggestion of Bishop Burke, to the Seminary of St.
Sulpice in Montreal, in which institution and later on
at the Seminary in Quebec, he was a brilliant student.

Bishop Power was thirty-seven years of age at the
time of his elevation to the episcopal dignity, and
during his short term of five years as Bishop of
Toronto, he built up a diocese which in the years to
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come was to be honoured by having its head raised
to the dignity of the cardinalate.

The new Bishop began immediately to organize
his immense territory. A synod of his clergy was
summoned at which the diocese was consecrated in a
most solemn manner to the Sacred Heart of Jesus.
The Bishop issued pastoral letters from time to time
that reflected ardent zeal for the advancement of his
diocese in genuine Christian living. Like good Bishop
Rosati, he was a supporter of the Association of the
Propagation of the Faith, which he eulogizes as “one
of the most admirable institutions and greatest works
of mercy of our times.”

A noble monument of Bishop Power’s zeal for the
glory of God is the Cathedral Church dedicated to
St. Michael, which he undertook to build supported
only by his unwavering confidence in the Providence
of God. With wise foresight he chose a site north and
west of the then more populated districts of Toronto.
This is now the intersection of Bond and Shuter
Streets. The subsequent expansion of the city proved
that the choice was an excellent one.

The excavations for St. Michael’s Cathedral were
begun on April 7, 1845, and the building operations
progressed so quickly that the cornerstone was laid
on May 8. The architecture is English Gothic of the
fourteenth century, and the cathedral was modelled
on York Minster. The architect, William Thomas
(1800-1860), was noted for the dignity of his designs.
In 1866 the beauty of the edifice was enhanced by the
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completion of the tower and the addition of a graceful
spire surmounted by a gilt cross, the work of the
architects Gundy and Langley. The cathedral was
consecrated on September 29, 1848, by Bishop Bour-
get of Montreal. Bishop Phelan of Kingston preached
the sermon. As Canon Law forbids the consecration
of a church in debt, that of the cathedral (fifty-seven
thousand dollars) was assumed by the Honourable
John Elmsley and S. G. Lynn, Esq.

In January 1847, the Bishop went to Rome to
present the needs of the rapidly growing diocese to
the Holy Father, Pius IX. On his return journey he
visited Ireland and it was on this occasion that,
mindful of the great need of a Congregation of re-
ligious women who would devote themselves to the
education of young girls, he asked the Superior of the
Institute of the Blessed Virgin Mary located at
Loretto Abbey, Rathfarnham, Dublin, to send a band
of Sisters to his episcopal city. His request was
granted and five members arrived in Toronto the
following September. However, they were to be soon
bereft of the aid and encouragement of their pro-
tector for Bishop Power died on October 1, 1847.

A dread disease, the typhus, had broken out in
Ireland as the result of the famine of 1846. Many of
the starving victims tried to reach America, and the
mortality on the ships, as well as on the landing-
places along the St. Lawrence, even as far as Upper
Canada, was appalling. Toronto was heavily stricken
and the holy Bishop was ever to the fore administer-
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ing the last sacraments to the dying. Finally, in
attending a poor deserted woman in the emigrant
sheds, he contracted the fatal malady, which claimed
him its victim in a few days. A martyr to his priestly
duties, the words of the Divine Master are truly ap-
plicable to him: “The good shepherd giveth his life
for his sheep.”

His burial took place on October 5. The new
Cathedral was still unfinished; consequently his ob-
sequies were celebrated in St. Paul’s Church, and his
remains were then transferred to St. Michael’s and
placed in a vault beneath what would later be the
main altar.

Between the death of Bishop Power and the ap-
pointment of his successor nearly three years elapsed.
The new incumbent of the See of Toronto was Armand
Francois Marie, Comte de Charbonnel. He belonged
to an illustrious family, famous in French history in
the service of church and king. He was born near
Monistrol-sur-Loire, in December 1802, the second
son of John Baptist, Comte de Charbonnel, and Marie
Claudine de Pradier, daughter of the Marquis
d’Agrain. The nobility of his birth was surpassed by
his qualities of mind and heart, and his zeal and holi-
ness were an inspiration to others during his long life in
the different fields of apostolic labour to which God
called him.

Bishop Charbonnel’s early years were spent in
various towns of the district of Velay already familiar
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to us in the annals of the first Sisters of St. Joseph.
His classical studies were made in the College of
Annonay, directed by the Congregation of St. Basil,
and he then proceeded to Paris to the Seminary of
St. Sulpice, where he distinguished himself in philo-
sophy. Ordained in 1825, the Abbé de Charbonnel,
with his scholastic attainments and the prestige of
his name, might have looked forward to rapid pro-
motion in the ecclesiastical state, but he had made
his choice long before this, and worldly honours had
no appeal for him. He entered the Society of St.
Sulpice, and after he completed his novitiate he spent
several years as professor in Lyons, Versailles, and
Bordeaux.

In 1839, in spite of his success as a teacher, he de-
termined to break with his friends and his country
and to devote his life and his talents to the crying
needs of the Church beyond the seas.

He went first to Montreal, and then to Baltimore,
to perfect himself in English. In Montreal, he con- .
tracted the dread typhus in 1846 and was brought to
the verge of the grave. His rugged constitution, how-
ever, enabled him to survive this danger; but much
weakened in health, he returned to France to re-
cuperate. While in Europe he was appointed Bishop
of Toronto by Pius IX, in a consistory held at Rome,
March 15, 1850. The Holy Father, in spite of the
humble protests of the bishop-elect, insisted on his
acceptance of this dignity, and showed his esteem of
the new prelate by himself consecrating him in the
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Sistine Chapel. On September 21, 1850, Bishop de
Charbonnel made his solemn entry into his new
diocese, where in his arduous labours, in a very
humble way, the Sisters of St. Joseph! were associated
with him.

11t is interesting to note that in his first diocesan report to Rome the
Bishop writes: “I hope to have soon some sisters of charity, called the
Sisters of St. Joseph, or the non-cloistered Sisters of the Visitation of St.
Francis de Sales.”



CHAPTER EIGHT

THE HOUSE
ON NELSON STREET

replace the lay management of the orphanage in

his episcopal city by a community of religious
Sisters. On a return journey from Baltimore, Bishop
de Charbonnel visited his friend the Right Reverend
Francis Joseph Kenrick, Bishop of Philadelphia, from
whom he learned of the good accomplished in his
diocese in the various charitable institutions in charge
of the Sisters of St. Joseph. Bishop de Charbonnel
was doubly interested when he heard that Mother
Delphine Fontbonne was Superior of the orphanage
in Philadelphia, for the Fontbonne family in France
were well known to his Lordship, whose father was
influential in helping Mother St. John to establish her
Institute in Lyons when peace was restored after the
Revolution. The Bishop, who realized that it would
be a great advantage for his projected Community to
have for Superior a religious trained at Lyons in the
original spirit of the Congregation, asked Bishop
Kenrick to arrange for Mother Delphine to be trans-
ferred to Toronto. The Superiors in St. Louis agreed
to this proposal, and gave permission also for Sister
Martha Bunning to accompany her. The Phila-
delphia Community generously gave two members,
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IN THE year 1851, the Bishop of Toronto decided to
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Sister Alphonsus Margerum and Sister Bernard
Dinan, to augment the number.

The pioneer band of four arrived in Toronto on
October 7, 1851. The journey from Philadelphia was
made by boat and stage coach, and since the latter
conveyance was often delayed by weather conditions,
the transit lasted a week. The Sisters were met at
the wharf by Captain the Hon. John Elmsley, Dr.
King, Mr. Thomas Flynn,! and other representative
Catholics. One cannot fail to be impressed by the
charity and interest shown by these gentlemen in the
project to establish this work of social service on a
satisfactory basis.

The care of orphans was at this time a vital
problem. Recurrences of the dread plague, ship-fever,
as typhus was popularly called, left in their wake
many unfortunate children bereft of their natural
protectors and thus dependent on public charity for
their support. True to its age-long tradition, the
Catholic Church in Toronto, in spite of difficulties,
was striving to obey the Master’s command, ““‘Suffer
the little children to come unto me,” and some time
prior to this date an orphanage under Catholic
auspices had been established on Nelson, now Jarvis
Street, between Richmond and Lombard, and facing
Duchess Street. The edifice was originally two brick
houses which belonged to George Kingsmill, High
Bailiff of Toronto, who lived in the northern one. In
the course of events, the Honourable John Elmsley

1Mr. Thomas Flynn was an uncle of Sister Imelda Milne, C.S.J., who
died in 1936.
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became the owner of these houses, and under the
guidance of Mrs. John Elmsley, her sister, Mrs. King,
and other ladies, the two houses were fitted up as an
orphan asylum. Originally it was directed by Mrs.
Patrick Lee, whose husband was in charge of one of
the first classical academies in Toronto. This lady
conducted a school for girls as well, and it may be
imagined that she had not much time for the super-
vision of the orphanage. The coming of religious
women was, therefore, a most welcome solution to all
concerned. The Sisters arrived full of joy and en-
thusiasm. The late Mr. Matthew O’Connor, a well-
known Toronto contractor, thus describes the scene:

On October 7, 1851 while I was engaged in repairing the
southern house, I had the honour of welcoming Rev. Mother
Delphine and her three companions, Sisters Mary Bernard,
Mary Martha, and Mary Alphonsus, who had come from
Philadelphia. What a lively time there was in that little
orphan asylum that first afternoon of the Sisters’ arrivall
Hardly had they placed their bonnets and shawls in the front
room, when the Superior was inspecting, arranging, ordering,
from dormitory to cellar. It was not long before a complete
transformation was effected, and one of the front rooms on
the ground floor turned into a most inviting chapel.

The members of this little band of religious Sisters
differed in nationality and formative influences. At
the call of obedience, however, united in mind and
heart, they now became strangers in a strange land
to teach its children loyalty to God, to sovereign, and
to country.

The Superior of the new work was French. Mother
Delphine, Jeanne Marie Fontbonne, was born on
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August 8, 1807, in Bas-en-Basset, Haute-Loire. Her
father, Claude Fontbonne, was a younger brother of
Mother St. John, and her mother, Marie Pleynet,
belonged to an influential family of Bas. She was
educated by the Sisters of St. Joseph, and in 1825,
following the example of her elder sister Antoinette,
who as Sister Fébronie was destined to lead the
Sisters of St. Joseph to St. Louis in 1836, she entered
the Congregation at Lyons, then well established
under her aunt’s supervision. We have followed her
early career in the New World where she rendered
valuable service in the establishment of her Institute,
and overcame many difficulties in St. Louis and, later
on, in Philadelphia. Toronto was to be the last scene
of her labours, and in the few years of life which re-
mained to her, she laid the foundations of the various
works of mercy which would expand and develop
later. Gifted with unusual administrative ability,
she was successful in adapting her Community to the
needs of the modern world. At the same time she
preserved the impress of the seal set upon the Insti-
tute by the founders, Bishop de Maupas and Father
Médaille.

Sister Mary Martha was Mother Delphine’s faith-
ful companion from the early days in St. Louis.
Marie von Bunning, born in Bohemia in 1824, entered
the Congregation of St. Joseph in St. Louis, received
the religious habit on October 15, 1845, and was
professed on August 12, 1848. Together with Mother



MOTHER DELPHINE FONTBONNE



THE HOUSE ON NELSON STREET 33

Delphine she taught in St. Vincent’s, the first perma-
nent parish school in St. Louis. In 1850 she went to
Philadelphia, spent the year at the orphanage with
Mother Delphine, and was then chosen one of the
pioneers for the new mission in Toronto.

In 1852, at the earnest request of Very Reverend
E. Gordon, Vicar-General, Sister Martha with two
companions founded a convent and orphanage in
Hamilton. In 1853 the Separate Schools of the city
were placed under the charge of the Sisters who con-
ducted later a flourishing boarding-school in connec-
tion with the convent. In 1856, Hamilton became a
separate diocese and on May 11, 1856, the Most
Reverend John Farrell, D.D., was consecrated its
first Bishop. In accordance with the custom of the
times, St. Joseph’s Convent was established as a
Mother House and novitiate for this new diocese.
Branch houses, including schools, hospitals, and
houses of refuge for the old and young, were founded
in quick succession in the different towns, under the
capable management of Sister Martha. In 1862, her
health failed and she returned to St. Louis where she
resumed her teaching. In 1866 she went to Erie,
Pennsylvania, to aid Mother Agnes Spencer in her
arduous task of founding there an orphanage and
hospital. She returned to Toronto in 1868 and her
holy death occurred on June 13 of the same year.
She rests in St. Michael’s Cemetery, Toronto, beside
Mother Delphine. Sister Martha was remarkable for
her great piety, charity, and holy simplicity.
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The third member of the band of co-foundresses
of the Congregation in Toronto, Sister Mary Al-
phonsus, a native of the United States, was Sarah
Margerum, the daughter of Isaac Margerum and Ann
Smith. She was born in the parish of St. Michael’s,
East Kensington, in the state of Pennsylvania in
1826. Her parents adhered to the sect known as the
Society of Friends or Quakers. Philadelphia was the
stronghold of these colonists, who had been influential
in the settlement of Pennsylvania from the days of
William Penn. They had established a very fine
school system and early records show that Sister
Alphonsus had received an excellent education. Her
father, Mr. Margerum, died when she was quite
young, and her mother married again, an Irish
Catholic named Bussenger. Edified by his deep spirit
of piety and impressed by his explanations of the
doctrines of the Catholic religion, the young Quaker-
ess daughter sought admission into the true fold of
Christ, and was baptized by Father F. J. Barbelin,
S.J., the friend and protector of the Sisters of St.
Joseph, during the difficult days of their early es-
tablishment in Philadelphia. Miss Margerum was
at this time seventeen years of age. Her next step
was to seek admission into the Congregation of St.
Joseph that had just arrived in that city. She entered
in 1848, at the age of twenty-two, and received the
religious habit on May 19 of that year. In October
1850, she made her profession and a year later left for
Canada. The name of this young American Sister
occurs again and again in the pages of the first annals.
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With Sister Alphonsus, the Sisters of St. Joseph began
their long connection with the Separate School system
of Ontario.

The dearth of material that records the history of
those early days is a hindrance in giving an adequate
appreciation of the contribution of Sister Alphonsus
to the organization of these first schools which were
to expand and develop, with almost incredible rapid-
ity, after her death. In 1855, she was sent to Hamil-
ton to help to place the schools there on a satisfactory
basis. Her mission was accomplished, however, for
in the autumn of the same year she died, the first
victim of the typhus to which the Sisters were exposed
while ministering to the unfortunate victims of that
dread disease. This devoted religious died in the
autumn of 1855 and was buried under St. Mary’s
Cathedral in Hamilton.

Since the biography of Mother Bernard Dinan,
the fourth of the co-foundresses, runs parallel with
the history of the Congregation in Toronto during
almost fifty years, it will suffice to note here that she
was born in Ireland in the parish of McCroom,
County Cork, daughter of Thomas Dinan and Ann
Sullivan. In the year 1850, at the age of twenty-one,
she received the religious habit in the Congregation
of St. Joseph in St. John’s Orphan Asylum, Phila-
delphia. She accompanied the band of Sisters to
Toronto in 1851 while yet a novice, and a year later,
on March 19, 1852, she was professed by the Right
Reverend Bishop de Charbonnel, in the Cathedral of
St. Michael.



CHAPTER NINE

EARLY DAYS

was soon taxed to capacity. Aspirants to

the religious life sought admission into the
Congregation, eager to devote their lives to the new
work of zeal thus established in this section of
English-speaking Canada. During the year 1852-
1853 valuable members presented themselves who
later took up the burdens which had been so valiantly
assumed by the pioneers.

The old records tell us that Miss Jane McCarthy,
who became Sister Mary Francis de Sales, was the
first postulant from Toronto. She received the re-
ligious habit on March 19, 1852, in the chapel of the
orphanage, and since very soon we find her name ap-
pended to documents concerning the Community, we
surmise that she had been assigned the role of secre-
tary. She founded the mission of St. Catharines in
December 1856, and that of Oshawa in November
1858. The onerous duties which these foundations
entailed resulted in a complete breakdown in her
health. Efforts were made to effect her recovery by
having her spend some months in the House of Provi-
dence and later on in the new Mother House on
Clover Hill. These efforts were in vain, however, and
this first Toronto Sister of St. Joseph, who had given
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THE Mother House, including the orphanage,
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her Sisters in religion a most holy example of the vir-
tues of her state, and had endeared herself to all by
her lovable character and her patience under suffering,
departed from this world on September 14, 1864, in
the tenth year of her religious profession.

It may be truthfully said of the records of these
early years that they were “the short and simple
annals of the poor.” The few notes available tell that
hardships were the portion of the Sisters. In spite of
his goodwill and unremitting zeal, Bishop de Char-
bonnel could not guard his beloved religious from
difficulties and almost incredible privations. The
Cross sealed and sanctified their early days and made
strong and sure the foundations of the edifice to be
erected by the pioneers and their successors. Poverty
was their only treasure, and it was so great that they
often knew not where to find the necessary food for
themselves and their young charges for the following
day. Even light was denied them because it cost so
much. Night prayers were said by the glow of the
sanctuary lamp, so that the necessity of learning them
by heart was imperative. Toil was unceasing in the
first years, beginning often as early as two in the
morning and continuing until ten or eleven at night.
No work which would bring in some financial return
to help with the upkeep of the institution was con-
sidered too menial to be undertaken by the members
of the Community. However, these young Sisters,
understanding the doctrine of the Mystical Body of
Christ, devoted themselves with unremitting zeal to
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the spiritual and temporal welfare of the helpless
young charges committed to their care. Mother
Delphine, with her love for Christ’s poor and her long
experience in alleviating their misery, was ever their
guide and example.

Less than a year after their arrival, the Sisters
were asked to collaborate in the movement to improve
the status of the Catholic schools in Toronto. The
intricacies of the legislation consequent on the es-
tablishment of our Separate Schools place its dis-
cussion beyond the scope of this work. It will suffice
to say that, as far back as 1830, competent Catholic
lay teachers, with or without government aid, suc-
ceeded one another until the arrival of the religious
communities.

Bishop Power, shortly before his death in 1847,
had invited the Ladies of Loretto to his diocese, and
in addition to their private school, they took charge
of a Separate School. On May 1, 1851, three Christian
Brothers opened a school on the north side of Rich-
mond Street, east of York. This was the nucleus of
the later St. Michael’s School and accommodated two
hundred boys. The Sisters of St. Joseph entered upon
the scene in the beginning of the school year of 1852
when Sister Alphonsus Margerum was given charge
of an old school on Stanley, later Lombard Street.
In recognition of her zealous labours there, the school
was known to the pupils and their parents as St.
Alphonsus’ School. In 1853 St. Patrick’s School was
organized and placed under the charge of the Sisters
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of St. Joseph. This school derived its name from the
near-by market, St. Patrick’s, which, in turn, was
situated in St. Patrick’s Ward, a large tract of land
that reached from Queen Street north to Yorkville,
and from Yonge Street west beyond Dundas Street.
The market occupied the site on Queen Street east of
John and extended north to Stephanie Street, along
the northern side of which stretched St. George’s
Church which fronted on John Street. To the east
of the market was a short, narrow street with humble
dwellings, which extended from Queen to Stephanie
Street. It was and is still dignified by the formal
name of St. Patrick’s Square. One of these houses
was fitted up as a school and placed under the charge
of Sister Alphonsus and Miss Sheridan, later Sister
Philomena.
Mzr. O’Connor in his reminiscences tells us:

I can still see Sister Alphonsus’ few little benches and her little
table. When the late Bishop de Charbonnel was told that the
little table, a second-hand bargain, cost three shillings and

nine-pence (about seventy-five cents), he cautioned her not
to be extravagant.

Later in the same year began the connection of
the Sisters of St. Joseph with St. Paul’s Parish, when
Sister Teresa Brennan and a second Sister were given
charge of the girls’ classes in the school situated on
Power Street, at the corner of Queen.

In the campaign thus begun in the eighteen-fifties
to provide Catholic schools for the children of this
section of the country, a campaign that was carried
on so ably by the Bishop, clergy, and influential lay-
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men, the Sisters of St. Joseph contributed their
humble share by fitting themselves to become efficient
teachers of the children confided to them.

The accommodation in the orphanage soon be-
came inadequate for the needs of the growing Com-
munity and the ever increasing number of orphan
children. The building at 100 Jarvis Street, which
still presents quite a respectable appearance, had, at
that time, to serve the triple purpose of Mother
House, novitiate, and orphanage, and it soon became
evident that it was necessary to select a suitable
location for the first two. Although money was scarce
enough and the times were hard, and the Catholics,
as always in Toronto, a minority among the citizens,
nevertheless the rich and those less so rallied to the
support of the members of this institute which ap-
pealed to kind hearts, touched by the helplessness of
Christ’s little ones. It seems to us almost miraculous
that, early in 1854, funds were available to purchase a
lot and to erect upon it the building affectionately
called by the older members the “White House.” In
this building situated on Power Street on the south-
west portion of what is now the House of Providence
grounds, Mother Delphine and her Community took
up their residence in June of the same year, leaving a
sufficiently large staff at the orphanage.

On July 2, the feast of the Visitation of our Lady,
the convent was blessed, and the Holy Sacrifice of
the Mass offered in it for the first time by the Rever-
end Edward Gordon, later Vicar-General of the
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diocese of Hamilton. In September 1854, the first
boarding and day school for girls was opened.

When the seat of government was moved from
Quebec to Toronto in the autumn of 1855, the popu-
lation of the latter city was notably increased by the
number of officials and their families who spent here
the allotted four years of Toronto’s turn as the
capital of Canada.

As a result, the private school for girls accommo-
dated in the “White House” was much appreciated
and patronized by the Catholic parents of the east
end of the city, and this was shown by the number of
pupils registered.

The days of trial and anxiety that marked the es-
tablishment of the Institute in Toronto seemed to
have come to an end and the future looked bright and
promising. But the inscrutable designs of Divine
Providence decreed that the Community should meet
with a heavy trial. At the close of the year 1855 a
virulent form of typhus made its appearance in
Toronto, and the Sisters from both the orphanage and
the convent spent themselves attending to the vic-
tims. As a result, several of them, as well as their
young charges, contracted the dread disease.

Her endeavours to cope with this cross was, as
was fitting, the last phase of Mother Delphine’s life
of self-sacrifice. She was untiring in her ministrations
to the sick and dying, and finally contracted the
disease after spending the night with a wretched
woman in the poorer quarters of the city. In spite
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of her hitherto robust constitution and the untiring
attentions of her daughters, she breathed forth her
heroic soul shortly after noon on February 7, 1856.
A very old lady, who died recently, used to describe
the wave of sorrow that reflected the grief of the
young pupils in the “White House” when the sad
news was told them during the afternoon session.

On the day following her death Solemn Mass for
the repose of her soul was celebrated in St. Paul’s
Church by his Lordship, the Bishop of Toronto, after
which her remains were carried to their resting-place
(the vault in the rear of the convent on Power Street)
by her devoted daughters, who by their bitter tears,
rendered a most grateful tribute to her memory. Her
month’s mind was celebrated solemnly in St. Michael’s
Cathedral. At the time of Mother Delphine’s death
the Community numbered forty-eight members.

It would be a labour of love to try to analyze the
spiritual life of Mother Delphine, but although her
daughters have from the beginning venerated her
name and realized her heroism in alleviating the lot
of the poor children committed to her maternal care,
yet no written records have kept alive her words of
inspiration to her first companions. She was evident-
ly for them the mirror of the Rule, and even up to the
present day one hears the words, often with a half-
humorous suggestion: “Remember, they did that in
Mother Delphine’s time.” The religious formation
which she acquired during her novitiate in the Mother
House in Lyons, France, was matured by time, and
her experience in the organization of the different
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charitable institutions committed to her care during
the twenty years of her sojourn in America was a
valuable contribution to the establishment of the
Institute in this country.

In a letter written by Bishop de Charbonnel to the
director of the Grand Seminary, Lyons, France, the
sad news was conveyed to Mother Delphine’s brother,
Reverend James Fontbonne, who had returned to his
native land. In reporting her sudden and saintly
death His Lordship pays the deceased Superior a
glowing tribute.

God did not forsake the young Community in
Toronto, thus bereft of their guide and foundress
after four years and a half. The Sisters of St. Louis
came to their aid and sent Mother Teresa Struckhoff
to fill the position of Superior. She was born in
Holdhof, Germany, on October 13, 1822; her parents
Himmerich Struckhoff and Mary Dickhaus, later mi-
grated to America where their daughter entered the
Congregation of St. Joseph in St. Louis. She re-
ceived the religious habit October 15, 1844, and her
profession took place on November 16, 1846. Her
two years in Toronto were but a short interlude in
her busy religious life of sixty-one years spent in St.
Louis, Peoria, and other cities, in a wide experience
of religious life which proved a precious advantage
to the young Sisters in Toronto. The common life
had always been her delight, and her fidelity to the
Rule and customs could not fail to edify them.

After devoting herself to all the details of her
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charge during the two years of her tenure of office, she
returned to St. Louis in 1858, and after many years
of service she died September 2, 1905. Her Sisters
in Toronto have ever held her name in grateful
remembrance.

In the summer of 1858, Mother Teresa Brennan
was appointed Superior of the Congregation in To-
tonto by Bishop de Charbonnel. She was a native of
Kingston, Upper Canada. In the early nineteenth
century her family, originally of the north of Ireland,
migrated to Canada where its members could have
greater advantages in religious and educational fields.
She was born in 1831, daughter of Michael Brennan
and Mary Begly. When she was still quite young her
parents moved to Hamilton where the young girl met
and learned to love and admire the first Sisters of St.
Joseph in charge of the orphanage there. Mother
Teresa was a child of predilection. An exquisite
minature, painted on ivory, represents her as an
angelic child of whom her family liked especially to
recall that on the occasion of her first Holy Com-
munion she was inspired to promise her Divine Guest
that she would become a nun. She entered the Congre-
gation of St. Joseph and received the habit in the
orphanage on Nelson Street on October 15, 1854.

In 1856 Sister Teresa pronounced her vows and
she was placed in charge of the orphanage on Nelson
Street (now Jarvis). After two years’ management
of this institution, she was chosen Superior-General
and for five years she discharged the responsible and
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onerous duties of this position with faithful exactness.
Her humility and love of retirement, however, in-
duced her to seek an opportunity to resign her
important office. In August 1863, her resignation
was accepted and she became mistress of novices.

Some years later she was named Superior of the
mission house in St. Catharines, and in 1868 she was
appointed the first Superior in London. In 1872,
she was nominated Mother Assistant, which office
she held until her death. A true Sister of St. Joseph,
she had imbibed the spirit of the Institute from
Mother Delphine, becoming, in very truth, a “mirror
of charity, humility and simplicity.”

During the thirty-five years of her religious life
Mother Teresa had the happiness of seeing her Congre-
gation increase from nine members at the time of her
entrance in 1852 to over two hundred members in the
diocese of Toronto alone, at the time of her death.

When her health began to fail in the spring of 1887
it was decided she should have a change of air and
Port Arthur was chosen as a suitable place for her to
recuperate. Here, however, far away from her be-
loved Mother House, she breathed her last on August
23, 1887. Her remains were brought to Toronto for
burial, and she lies in St. Michael’s Cemetery beside
her beloved Mother Delphine.



CHAPTER TEN

THE HOUSE OF
PROVIDENCE

MONG many other onerous duties which de-
A volved on Mother Teresa was the completion
of the House of Providence on Power Street
begun by Mother Delphine and continued by Mother
Teresa Struckhoff. This institution was founded by
the Right Reverend Bishop de Charbonnel in 1856.
The building, designed by William Hay (1818-1888),
an architect of repute, was erected to meet the need
that had long been felt by the Bishop—that of an
institution for the relief of the poor and destitute of
all classes and creeds. It was eminently character-
istic of this saintly Bishop that he measured his love
for God by his love for his neighbour.

When the Sisters took possession in 1857 the
building was still in the course of erection and void
of furniture. Many difficulties had to be surmounted.
Resources were limited and among other efforts to
obtain what was necessary for the support of the sick
poor, the Sisters solicited alms from door to door.
God blessed these efforts and as the number of in-
mates increased, so did the donations. The late Hugh
J. Mackintosh, a keen student of the early Catholic
history of Toronto, judged “that when all is said and
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done, the House of Providence is Armand de Char-
bonnel’s most enduring monument.”

Many special interpositions of Providence seemed
to favour the success of the undertaking. Interesting
stories are told of help marvellously bestowed when
resources were exhausted. Several times, after
fervent prayer had been offered, an unknown man
whom the Sisters believed to be their beloved patron
St. Joseph called at the door and left packets con-
taining pecuniary aid. It is told that on another
occasion a non-Catholic farmer, driving to the market
one morning a heavily laden wagon of produce, found
on passing the gateway of the House of Providence
that his horses would not advance a step farther; and
he was finally obliged to deliver his load of provisions
to the institution. Imagine the surprise of the farmer
when he heard that had it not been for his donation,
the children would have been that morning, for the
first time, without their usual breakfast, as there was
nothing in the house to eat and no money to purchase
anything.

Mother Agnes Geary, Superior, and her assistants,
Sister M. Joseph King and Sister Elizabeth Blaney,
were the first Sisters to whom was entrusted the
charge of this institution.

In 1859, the orphanage on Nelson Street was
closed and the children removed to the House of
Providence where they were provided for until the
Sacred Heart Orphanage at Sunnyside was opened
in 1876.

The growth of the House of Providence has kept
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pace fairly well with that of the city. Although the
building has been enlarged to more than four times
the original size, it is always filled to capacity. In
1874 a new wing was completed, at a cost of thirty-
five thousand dollars. In those days of struggle this
was an overwhelming debt to assume, but the charity
of citizens of all creeds was truly remarkable when-
ever it was a question of aiding the House of Provi-
dence, and God’s almighty hand could always be
relied upon for timely support.

The material development of the House of Provi-
dence, the extension of building accommodation, the
increase of the number of inmates, and the miraculous
manner in which difficulties were overcome, was
owing in great part, after God’s help, to the efficient
personnel. The Sisters were all women of strong
unfailing faith in Providence, on which they depended
absolutely. In every emergency their confidence was
invariably rewarded. Their hearts were filled with
an all-embracing charity, animated by the love of
God and the neighbour.

The Catholic Church has always wisely placed her benevo-
lent establishments under the direction and management of
these good women who have left the world and its allurements
to live and labour for their fellow-men. These heroines are
called “sisters of charity’” and their name is legion. They are
saints unknown to the world, the ministering angels who are
to be found in hospitals and orphanages and when fatal
epidemics occur. When necessary they pass from door to
door or they stand in the market square to solicit alms to
feed the poor and helpless whom the cold charity of the world

has cast upon their hands and whom they look upon as fellow
creatures to be loved and succoured with tender care.!

1], C. McKeown, Life of Archbishop Lynch, pp. 191-2.
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“As everlasting foundations upon a solid rock so
are the commandments of God in the heart of a holy
woman. (Ecc. XXVI—24).” These scriptural words
might well be applied to Mother de Chantal McKay,
a young widow, born in Tipperary, Ireland, in 1827.
She entered St. Joseph’s Novitiate October 17, 1855,
the year in which the building of the central portion
of the House of Providence was begun. In those days
the plans drawn up for enlarged accommodation
seemed colossal and faint hearts.feared the under-
taking. Funds were lacking and no hope of future
endowment was entertained. Mother de Chantal,
although a novice in religious observance, had the
courage to meet the occasion. There was recognized
in her the strength of soul, the steadfast faith, the
tenacity of purpose, which enabled her to cope with
any emergency.

She was Superior of the House of Providence from
1858 to 1868, when she was appointed Superior of the
London mission.

In 1878 she took charge again of the House of
Providence, and during her superiorship the present
chapel was erected. She was later Superior of Notre
Dame Convent, Sunnyside Orphanage, St. Michael’s
Hospital, the Mother House, and finally St. Mary’s
Convent, Bathurst St. From this convent she came
to the Mother House for the annual retreat in 1903.
On August 10, the fourth day of the retreat, she was
seized with a heart attack to which she succumbed
towards evening, on the same day, in the seventy-
seventh year of her age and the forty-eighth of her
religious life.
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The memory of Mother de Chantal still survives.
Her unfailing characteristic of sharing the anxieties
of others in a way that merited their lasting gratitude
is exemplified in the following incident:

Many years after Mother de Chantal’s death, the
compiler of the present work and her companion
visited a New York convent where the Superior
welcomed them as “Mother de Chantal’s Sisters”
with an exuberance, seemingly out of all proportion,
until she explained that as a young Sister she and her
companion, who were travelling to the death-bed of a
relative, had been stranded in Toronto. There they
were hospitably received by Mother de Chantal, who
settled all their difficulties with a kindness that im-
pressed them deeply, and which was reflected in their
own attitude to visitors.

A momentous change occurred in the diocese of
Toronto in 1859. Bishop de Charbonnel, who had
appealed to Rome several times for a coadjutor, was
finally accorded this favour by the reigning Pontiff,
Pius IX. The choice was Very Rev. John Joseph
Lynch, C.M., President of the College of the Holy
Angels, Niagara Falls. The consecration of the new
coadjutor took place on November 20, 1859.

When he consecrated the high altar in St. Michael’s
Cathedral on the feast of the Purification, February 2,
1860, Bishop de Charbonnel performed his last
episcopal function. On April 26, 1860, he resigned
his See and was given the title of Bishop of Sozopolis.
Later in the same year he took his departure from
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America and entered the novitiate of the Capuchin
Monastery of Atiguste in the Roman Province. At
the close of his novitiate he returned to France to his
monastery in Lyons. He devoted himself with great
zeal to the work of the Propagation of the Faith for
which he always had a love of predilection. Now that
he was comparatively free from the exacting demands
of his episcopal position, he spent his time preaching
and conducting retreats. In his monastic life he was
a model of religious observance, especially of poverty
and humility. It is related of him that, to a friend
who expostulated with him for travelling third class,
he said simply that he was travelling thus because
there was no fourth class. The following anecdote is
told of his humility. Bishop Lynch, on his way to
the Vatican Council in 1870, called at the Capuchin
monastery in Lyons to visit his revered predecessor.
The community meal was in progress when Bishop
Lynch arrived, and he was conducted to the refectory
where the religious, according to their custom, were
eating in silence. There the Bishop found the saintly
Bishop de Charbonnel in penance, sitting on the floor
eating his meal from a bowl and using a wooden
spoon. The meeting was most affecting. They wept
as they embraced each other, and the Superior was so
impressed that he allowed the monks to speak. Dur-
ing the visit Bishop de Charbonnel did not weary
asking questions about his former diocese. Not an
item of interest seemed to escape his memory. He
even asked if the little old pump still stood outside
the House of Providence.
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In 1880, the Pope conferred on the zealous Capu-
chin the title and dignity of Archbishop of Sozopolis,
but he did not change his work nor manner of life.

A few years later he retired to a small monastery
at Crest to prepare for death. Increasing feebleness
prevented his working, but he still continued to hear
confessions until the day before he died on Easter
Sunday, March 29, 1891.

His works of zeal during the thirty years of his
Franciscan life reflected in full measure his own
words: “We shall rest in heaven; here below we must
work for the good Master.”



CHAPTER ELEVEN

CLOVER HILL

T THE end of the first decade the Community
A was steadily advancing. Of the personnel of
fifty Sisters eight had died, not too large a

toll when we consider the hardships to which these
young religious had been subjected. The inmates of
the House of Providence, both old people and orphans,
were increasing in numbers as were also the children
in the schools. The “White House” had become too
small to serve its purpose of Mother House, novitiate,
and school, and a larger building became imperative.
Being without means, the Sisters had to rely on Di-
vine Providence for a solution of their difficulties.
The only land at their disposal, not a very suitable
site, was that which adjoined the grounds of the
House of Providence. As there seemed no alternative,
the stones for the foundation were drawn there in 1862.
Before the beginning of the necessary excavations a
novena of adoration of the Blessed Sacrament was
begun that God might direct the undertaking. As a
reward of this faith, the Hon. John Elmsley, who
heard through the Basilian Fathers of the embarrass-
ment of the Sisters, gave two acres of his Clover Hill
estate for a convent and school. This was one more
example of the many acts of charity of this fervent
Catholic who had now for thirty years devoted his
means and time to the uplift of his fellow-religionists.

103
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Mr. Elmsley’s conversion to the Catholic faith
from the Church of England in 1833 had caused a
considerable stir, and a war of pamphlets had ensued
between him and his erstwhile friend Archdeacon
Strachan, in charge of St. James Anglican Church.
The first of these pamphlets was especially interest-
ing. In it the Hon. John Elmsley incorporated ex-
tracts from the works of Abbé Trevern (afterwards
Bishop of Strasbourg) on the Blessed Eucharist, to
which he ascribed his conversion. With the aid of a
brilliant Catholic theologian, the Very Reverend
W. P. Macdonald, editor of The Catholic, published
in Kingston, the first Catholic newspaper in Upper
Canada, the Hon. John Elmsley was acknowledged
the victor in the controversy.

These pamphlets are now preserved in the Library
of University College, Toronto, and occasionally they
are on view in the show-case placed in the entrance
to the Library.

Clover Hill was the popular name given to a tract
of land between Bloor and College Streets and west
of Yonge. This land was cleared much later than the
southern part of the town. The Hon. John Elmsley
became the owner of a great part of it and gave to
the new streets the names of his favourite saints.
These names are being gradually changed to suit the
development of modern Toronto. Thus St. Vincent
has become Bay Street, and St. Alban, Wellesley
Street West. St. Michael’s College, built in 1856, was
situated on the sandy crest of the slight elevation and
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St. Joseph’s Convent a block farther south at the foot.
On Monday, May 26, 1862, the Feast of St. Philip
Neri, the first sod of the new convent was turned and
on Thursday August 13, 1863, the first unit of the
proposed structure being completed, the Community
removed to it from Power Street. It was intended to
accommodate the novitiate and Mother House in one
section and the academic requirements in the other.
On Saturday, August 15, 1863, his Lordship Rt. Rev.
J. J. Lynch, assisted by Rev. C. Vincent, C.S.B., and
Very Rev. J. F. Jamot, celebrated the Holy Sacrifice
of the Mass and preached an eloquent and fatherly
sermon. In spite of the pleasure that the Sisters ex-
perienced in the thought of the ample accommodation
of their new home, there were mingled feelings of
regret at the thought of leaving what they regarded
as the cradle of their Institute in Toronto. In that
novitiate on Power Street had been trained the noble
souls who had laid firm the foundations of the great
work later accomplished by the Community through-
out the province. Among these zealous pioneers who
gave themselves wholeheartedly to the work of chari-
ty and education may be named Mother de Chantal
McKay, Mother Antoinette Macdonell, Mother de
Pazzi Kennedy of Toronto; Mother Philip Leniton
and Mother Vincent O’Hagan of Hamilton; Mother
Ignatia Campbell of London; and Mother Austin
Doran of Peterboro.

On August 25, 1863, Mother Teresa Brennan, who
desired to lead a more retired life, resigned the office
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of Mother-General, and Mother Antoinette Mac-
donell was elected to replace her on August 28. His
Lordship Bishop Lynch then appointed Mother
Teresa Mistress of Novices.

The first reception was held in the Convent
Chapel, Clover Hill, on November 21, 1863, when
Sister Mary Lawrence Keany and Sister Celestine
Shinners received the religious habit.

Mother Antoinette Macdonell had received the
holy habit on January 29, 1856, the last to have that
privilege from the hands of Mother Delphine. Henri-
etta Macdonell came of an historic race, the Clan
Macdonell, which was at one time the most powerful
in the Scottish Highlands. Her father, James Mac-
donell, was a direct descendant of the renowned
“Glengarry Macdonell,” and her mother, Madeleine
Chisholm of Montreal, was descended from the
Chisholms of Aberdeen.

Her charitable and educational work is written
large in the history of Toronto. During the half-
century of her religious life she held at various times
the highest positions in the Congregation. For fifteen
years (1863-1869, 1878-1887) she was Superior-
General at the Mother House, Toronto, and at inter-
vals was local superior in the House of Providence
and at St. Catharines, Ontario. She won all hearts,
and as the years passed the love, esteem, and admi-
ration felt for her increased. The convent school-girl,
the hapless orphan, the aged infirm, the clergy, and
her Sisters in religion found an abiding place in her
gentle heart.
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In later years a martyr to rheumatism and a
prisoner in her little room, she received her friends
there with all her old-time courtesy; and the touching
words of advice which she proffered lingered in the
memories of those privileged to receive them. On
January 6, 1906, exactly five months before her death,
Mother Antoinette celebrated the Golden Jubilee of
her religious life.

It was soon realized that a more desirable site for
the building of the new convent could not have been
chosen as the educational centre of the Sisters of St.
Joseph. The provincial university had finally emerged
from the earlier Anglican stage of King’s College in
1826 to a non-sectarian organization, which later on
allowed a Catholic college to share in the scholastic
privileges of such an institution. St. Michael’s
College had been established in Toronto in 1852 by
the Basilian Fathers under the auspices of Bishop de
Charbonnel, who had been educated by them at their
College of Annonay, Department of Vivarais, France.
Their first building on Queen Street opposite the
Metropolitan Church was soon vacated for a part of
St. Michael’s Palace requisitioned for the school,
which, however, soon proved too small. At this
juncture the Hon. John Elmsley came forward and
offered the Basilians a portion of land on the northern
part of his estate and generously accompanied his gift
by a sum of money to help towards the building of
St. Michael’s College. In September 1855, the corner-
stone was laid and a year later classes were opened in
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the new structure. In 1881, following the example of
several colleges in the old land, St. Michael’s was
affiliated with the University of Toronto, with the
privilege of teaching the subjects considered desirable,
while the students write the University examinations.
The ideals of Catholic education are thus conformed
to, and at the same time the advantages of a great
state university are shared by the students.

It was not only the proximity of the educational
institutions and somewhat later those of the pro-
vincial Parliament Buildings, which were transferred
from the earlier site on the south-west corner of King
and Simcoe Streets in 1892 to Queen’s Park, that
proved advantageous to old Clover Hill; the locality
was strictly residential, and the beautiful park to the
west added to the ideal situation of the new Mother
House. In due time the Sisters acquired adjoining
lots of land and their property comprised finally the
whole block bounded by St. Alban Street (Wellesley
West) on the north, Surrey Place on the west, Bread-
albane Street on the south, and St. Vincent Street
(Bay) on the east.

The new Mother House, which included the
private school, soon became a busy centre of activity,
and the first prospectus was published in 1866. The
programme of studies was decidedly ambitious, and
reflected the system of education in vogue for gitls in
those days. The course of instruction included among
other branches, English, French, and Italian, the
three R’s, as well as History, Natural Philosophy,
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Logical Analysis, Astronomy, and the Use of the
Globes (this latter a very popular subject). The
artistic branches, vocal and instrumental music,
drawing, painting, plain and ornamental needlework,
and especially the making of wax fruit and flowers,
were not neglected.

The uniforms adopted were a light blue delaine
dress, a black silk mantle or cape, and a white straw
bonnet for summer, for winter these were replaced
by a dark blue dress, black cloak, and black bonnet.

We learn from the records that the Sisters were
greatly encouraged by Very Reverend Bishop Lynch,
who, despite the manifold demands on his time and
attention, displayed an interest in these younger
members of his flock—an interest which did not cease
with his elevation on March 15, 1870, to the Archi-
episcopal dignity. In proof of this we note among less
important items that he established the Sodality of
the Blessed Virgin Mary at St. Joseph’s Convent on
December 8, 1866.

Although the Sisters assisted at the farewell
exercises for the Bishop, about to depart for the
Vatican Council on October 20, 1869, he did not fail
to visit them at the convent before leaving for Rome.

On September 7, 1870, His Grace, the Archbishop,
returned to Toronto after an absence of nearly a year,
and on September 11 the Sisters and students at-
tended the Cathedral for the occasion of the induction
of the new Archbishop, an event which was followed
on September 13 by the visit of His Grace to St.
Joseph’s Convent.
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The Vatican Council was adjourned owing to the
outbreak of the Franco-Prussian War and the subse-
quent collapse of the French armies. However, the
Decree of Papal Infallibility was promulgated before
the close of the sessions, and the friends of Archbishop
Lynch felt honoured that he had the responsibility of
speaking on the question on behalf of the Canadian
Bishops. On his return to Toronto he delivered an
admirable lecture on the work of the Council.!

On August 16, 1869, his Lordship had presided at
the General Chapter which elected Mother Bernard
Dinan, Superior-General in the place of Mother
Antoinette whose second term had expired.

Archbishop Lynch died on May 12, 1888. During
the twenty-eight years of his occupancy of the See of
Toronto he had ever been the faithful friend and
adviser in all the important decisions concerning the
development of the various activities of the Institute.
Other benefactors had also come to the aid of the
Sisters in their plans for improvements in the different
charitable institutions and in the expansion of their
schools. The annals mention frequently Mr. and
Mrs. Patrick Hughes, Mr. and Mrs. Bernard Hughes,
Mr. Joseph Kidd of Carronbrook, and Mr. Anthony

Messner of Formosa.

A brief from Rome, dated August 17, 1889, ap-
pointed the Right Reverend John J. Walsh, Bishop
of London, to be Archbishop of Toronto. St. Joseph’s

1H, C. McKeown, Life of the Archbishop, p. 131,



181 CANADA

joined in the many expressions of welcome tendered
to the new Archbishop by the different parishes and
schools of the city, and received His Grace on De-
cember 2, when a concert was given in his honour by
the pupils of the convent classes.



CHAPTER TWELVE

THE LITTLE TOWNS

organized during the pioneer days, such as the
Orphanage, the House of Providence, and the
Mother House which included the novitiate and
school, the Sisters were requested very soon to take
charge of houses in the towns adjacent to Toronto.

IN ADDITION to the more extensive institutions

HamivTonN

The first foundation was made in 1852, in Hamil-
ton where, under the superiorship of Mother Martha
Von Bunning and the direction and encouragement
of the Vicar-General, the Very Reverend Edward
Gordon, an orphanage and schools were established.
Worthy of special mention is the heroism of the
Sisters who devoted themselves to the task of nursing
the victims of the dread plagues of cholera and typhus
which occurred in this locality in 1854 and 1855.
Since Mother Martha first planted the Community
in Hamilton, it has continued to grow and spread,
and has undertaken many works of charity and mercy
on behalf of the poor and afflicted. The Congre-
gation, within forty years, took charge of the Separate
Schools, a training school for teachers, an orphanage,
a hospital, and two Houses of Providence.
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In 1856, the Most Reverend John Farrell, D.D.,
was consecrated Bishop of Hamilton, and soon after
this St. Joseph’s Convent was established as a Mother
House and novitiate for this diocese.

St. CATHARINES

St. Catharines, Lincoln County, on the Welland
Canal, is the oldest mission of the Toronto Congre-
gation of St. Joseph. The name has a double origin.
An early chronicle tells us that Pere Hennepin, the
Récollet missionary, with his fellow-explorer, La
Salle, made a portage near Twelve Mile Creek in this
locality and after celebrating Mass on the morning
of November 25, 1679, the father blessed the source
of the creek and called it St. Catherine’s Well in
honour of the saint of the day. This settlement was
afterwards called Shipman’s Corners, but later was
given the more pretentious name of St. Catharines in
honour of Catharine Robertson Hamilton, wife of a
" member of the first Executive Council of Upper Cana-
da. The memory of the saint is commemorated in the
name of the church—St. Catherine of Alexandria.

Missionaries on their trek to the west frequently
made sojourns of different durations in this section of
the country and the settlers had the advantage of
their religious ministrations.

In 1832, the parish of St. Catharines was es-
tablished during the pastorate of the Most Reverend
Alexander Macdonell, and in 1834 a frame church was
built which was replaced by a stone edifice erected in
1843 by the zealous pastor, Reverend W. McDonagh.
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Under the initiative of Dean Gratton in 1856,
Separate Schools were established in St. Catharines
and, in December of that year, the Sisters of St.
Joseph were asked to take charge of them. The first
staff, which included Sister Francis de Sales Mc-
Carthy, Superior, Sister de Chantal McKay, Sister
Gabriel McKassey, and Sister Seraphine Mulcahy,
began their work in January 1857. They lived in a
frame house on Church Street until 1874 when they
moved to the present commodious convent on the
corner of Church and James Streets. As the Catholic
population increased with the years, additional
schools were built: St. Mary’s, St. Nicholas’, St.
Catherine’s, St. John’s, St. Joseph’s, and St. Dennis’,
which in the centenary year (1945) had a total of
slightly less than nine hundred pupils.

Soon after the convent building was completed in
1875, a private school was opened in it which, in
addition to the curriculum prescribed for the Separate
Schools, provided tuition in the high school subjects
of the first and second years, and also included in-
struction in the more ornamental branches of art,
fancy-work, music, etc., as well as commercial courses.
Although discontinued for a time, high school work
which now reaches grade twelve has been resumed
and is well patronized by the girls of St. Catharines.

BarriE

In January 1858, at the request of Father Jamot,
later Bishop of Peterborough, the Community was
asked to take charge of the Separate School in Barrie,
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which had been opened in 1856. This picturesque
little town, situated at the head of Kempenfelt Bay,
an arm of Lake Simcoe, had been laid out in 1833 and
named after Commodore Barrie who made a tour of
inspection of the Great Lakes by way of Lake Simcoe
in 1828.

In the early days Barrie was served by various
missionaries until a church was built in 1849 and
Father Jamot appointed parish priest. In 1856 a
frame school house was built on the west end of the
church lot.

Sisters Mary Lawrence Keeney, Mary Rose
O’Malley, Basil Baker, and Camilla Hennegan, the
pioneers, were accommodated in a temporary house
near by. In 1885, Dean O’Connor, the parish priest,
afterwards Bishop of Peterborough, built a fine new
convent opposite the church, where the Sisters resided
until 1946 when this building was converted into
classrooms for high school work and the convent re-
moved to 81 Berczy Street.

OsHAWA

Another foundation of the 1850’s was that of
Oshawa, situated on Lake Ontario, thirty-two miles
east of Toronto. Its history dates from 1795 when
Governor Simcoe began a military road between the
site of this settlement and Kingston, one hundred and
sixty miles distant.

From the early records we learn that the settlers
here were visited as early as 1825 by a Catholic priest,
and the erection of the church began in 1841.
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About 1835 the hamlet was known as Shea’s
Corners, but in 1842, when a post office was es-
tablished, the name was changed to the Indian term
“Oshawa,” meaning “‘crossing a stream.”

In November 1858, Father Proulx asked for
Sisters to teach in the Separate Schools which he had
succeeded in establishing, and, in answer to his ap-
peal, once again Sister Francis McCarthy was called
upon to make the foundation, which she accomplished
to the satisfaction of all concerned. After ninety
years St. Gregory’s School, now in a splendid modern
building on Simcoe Street, is still flourishing, as is also
the more recent Holy Cross School on the same street,
nearer the lake.

THOROLD

A small settlement which later developed into the
town of Thorold existed during the later years of the
eighteenth century near the site of the adjoining
Welland Ship Canal. It was named after Sir John
Thorold (1734-1814), a member of the British Parlia-
ment who was noted for his opposition to war with the
American colonies. The early religious history of
Thorold is closely linked with that of St. Catharines,
where the Catholics of Thorold assisted at Holy Mass
until about 1852 when the first church was built and
the first resident pastor, Reverend Michael Mc-
Laughlin, was appointed. In 1853, the Very Rever-
end B. Grattan, Dean of the district of St. Catharines,
arranged for the building of the first Catholic school
on the same premises as those upon which the church
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stood. Some years later, in 1866, the Sisters of St.
Joseph made a foundation there under the charge of
Mother Presentation, aided by Sisters Celestine and
Helena. After a sojourn of two years and a half, on
July 23, 1868, the mission was abandoned and the
Sisters returned to Toronto.

However, on August 11, 1875, a permanent foun-
dation was made. His Grace, Archbishop Lynch,
accompanied by Vicar-General Rooney, Dean Mulli-
gan, the pastor, Reverend T. Sullivan, and many
members of the Congregation, proceeded from the
church in procession and blessed the new convent.
In 1882, the first frame school was replaced by a brick
building opposite the convent which was further en-
larged and improved until it was replaced by the
present modern eight-room school in 1928, during the
pastorate of the late Reverend Melville Staley. The
school now has a registration of three hundred and
twenty pupils.

ORILLIA

In August 1903, the Community opened a house
in Orillia on Lake Couchiching, eighty-four miles from
Toronto. Orillia, derived from the Spanish word
meaning “bank” or “shore,” was perhaps named by
Sir Peregrine Maitland, Lieutenant-Governor of
Upper Canada. The late pastor, the Venerable
Archdeacon Campbell, left money for the building
of a convent. He stipulated that the Sisters of St.
Joseph should be asked to take charge of the Separate
School. Although there was considerable opposition
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on the part of some Catholics in the town to the
Sisters’” replacing the lay teachers in the school, the
pastor, Reverend M. Moyna, urged by Archbishop
O’Connor, had the convent built, and the Superior,
Reverend Mother de Pazzi Kennedy, received orders
from the Archbishop to send three teachers to Orillia
for the opening of school in September.

When the Superior, Mother Borromeo, with her
staff of three teachers, a music teacher, and house-
keeper, arrived in the town, the convent was not quite
completed and they were obliged to accept the hospi-
tality of the pastor, Reverend M. Moyna, in whose
house they lodged for about five days. At the end
of that time the Sisters joyfully took possession of
their new home, and, in the same spirit, endured the
hardships and inconveniences of living in a house ill-
fitted for occupation, with its entire absence of
furniture (a kitchen stove and one chair being all
the house contained), and its damp walls and
basement, etc.

Since the school has been in the Sisters’ charge,
work there, which includes a music class, has been
blessed with marked success.

CoLGAN

One of the more recent foundations is the convent
and school in Colgan, on the border line between the
townships of Adjala and Tecumseh, in Simcoe county.
(The townships bear the names of an Indian chieftain
and his wife.) The Colgan family was established
there about 1830, but this was indeed a little burg of
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“scant renown” until a son, John Colgan, a gifted
poet, who wrote under the nom-de-plume of “Fagan,”
attracted attention by publishing in book form, a
collection of his clever poems, most of which dealt
with the history of Adjala and the life of its people.

By this time the hamlet boasted two industries, a
tannery, and a cooperage shop, both operated by sons
of Fagan. There was not even a post office, the mail
being carried by stage coach from Bolton to near-by
Keenansville, a more pretentious centre. But the
coming of the railroad in 1887 to Tottenham, two
miles away, led to the establishment of a post office.
A blacksmith shop, butcher shop, store and under-
taker’s parlours were added, but only the store and
post office survived the years.

The spiritual needs of the pioneers were taken care
of by itinerant missionaries, one of the earliest being
Rev. Edward Gordon, who came through the bush
on horseback from Newmarket, and said Mass in a
house in the western part of the parish. Adjala’s
noted artist, Mr. Joseph Kidd, has immortalized this
hallowed spot in paintings treasured by the present
generation.

The first church, St. James, a large log building,
was erected in 1832 by Father Gordon, who in 1830
had been named Rector of Toronto Township and
Adjala, an immense area, and that fact may explain
why this whole community is proudly referred to as
Adjala, though it comprises very much more than the
municipal division which bears that name.
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A mission church was built in 1874 by Dean Harris
to accommodate the western section of the parish, and
was named St. Mary’s. Another mission church was
erected in Tottenham on the eastern part of the parish
by the pious wonder-worker, Rev. Francis McSpirritt,
who gave to the new house of God the name of his
patron saint, St. Francis.

In 1888, the frame church of St. James was re-
placed by the present magnificent brick edifice under
the capable supervision of the pastor, Father Cassidy.

The first school came into being in Father Paur-
rett’s time in 1856, with Alexander Lacoste as teacher;
instruction had been carried on in the upper story of
the log church up to this time, but it was not until
1885 that a Separate School section was formed and
the present brick school built. Lay teachers were
entrusted with the children’s education, the first
teacher being Mr. Carmichael.

Early in the twentieth century a group of fathers
of families presented a request to the pastor that a
convent be built and the Sisters given charge of edu-
cation, but arrangements could not be made at that
time. Several years later a pious old lady offered her
home to house the Sisters if they could be established
in the parish, but again it was not a feasible propo-
sition. It is interesting to note that though her house
was sold more than once after her demise, and finally
became church property, part of the parish recreation
centre, it was in this house that our first Sisters took
up their abode for a few months while they awaited
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the completion of their present beautiful convent in
1947.

There two Sisters of St. Joseph, Sister Dosithea
in charge, launched out on a sea of undreamed-of
limits.

The school built at the same time is a modern
structure, fully equipped, and at first had three rooms.
To the utter dismay of the ever vigilant pastor, Rev.
F. X. O’Reilly, so many parents were anxious that
their children should partake of the training provided
that it was necessary to enlarge the school at once,
and in 1948-49 extra classrooms and an auditorium
were added, which with the original school, barely
accommodate the present classes.

Two immense busses pick up the children from
the surrounding countryside, as two other school
sections have joined the first section to form a
Separate School area. The attendance now is 160,
comprising grades 1 to 12.

With the passing of the years the little towns of
Ontario where the Sisters had made foundations ex-
panded, and some of them became the Sees of bishops.
The boundaries of these were adjusted and following
the custom in vogue before the Congregation became
a Pontifical Institute, the Communities of the Sisters
of St. Joseph within these new dioceses were separated
from the Mother House in Toronto. Hamilton be-
came independent in 1856. This was followed by
London where, in 1868, Right Reverend Bishop
Walsh, who later became Archbishop of Toronto, had
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established an orphanage. Three years later the
Sisters in London were separated from Toronto, and
constituted a separate diocesan Community. Besides
the orphanage, the Sisters took charge of the aged
and of the parochial schools. From London branches
were opened at Sandwich, St. Thomas, Goderich, and
other places.

In 1881, Bishop Jamot obtained his request that a
band of Sisters, under the superiorship of Mother de
Pazzi Kennedy, should be sent to Port Arthur, situ-
ated at the head of Lake Superior in a most pictur-
esque setting. This was, for the Toronto Sisters, their
nearest approach to a foreign mission, and, as such,
possessed a charm which singled it out from the other
houses nearer home. Port Arthur had been evangel-
ized by Jesuit missionaries, and the descendants of
their Indian converts were still numerous and shared
in the religious instructions given by the Sisters.
The Catholics in Port Arthur, who did not possess a
superfluity of this world’s goods, could not provide
adequate support for the religious, who had to resort
to extensive begging. Their hazardous expeditions
followed, usually, the line of the C.P.R., but the rail-
way workers treated them with the greatest respect,
guided them over dangerous stretches of the road,
and gladly gave them of their small earnings, asking
only for prayers in return.

Two years after the arrival of the Sisters in Port
Arthur, an addition was built to the convent, which
was used as a temporary hospital until the new St.
Joseph’s Hospital, under government control, was
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built in 1884. In 1890, the Sisters in Port Arthur were
separated from the Toronto house and placed in
charge of the Bishop of Peterborough.

Bishop Jamot also applied in 1884 for Sisters to
direct a school for Indian girls at Fort William. Four
Sisters opened a boarding-school and orphanage
where the children, besides their ordinary studies, are
taught sewing and all kinds of housework, as in an
industrial school.

In January 1889, the Sisters of St. Joseph took
charge of the Separate School in Merritton, a manu-
facturing town situated between St. Catharines and
Thorold, and also of the Separate School of Port
Dalhousie, a short distance from St. Catharines.
They have withdrawn from both places.

Penetanguishene (the place of the rolling sand),
situated on Georgian Bay, has had a varied history.
Although an important naval and military station in
charge of British authorities as early as 1818, the first
permanent settlers were of French Catholic origin.
We cannot doubt that the early missionaries, before
their dispersal which followed the Iroquois invasions,
often visited this district; but it was only in the early
nineteenth century that it was regularly attended by
priests from Toronto and Kingston. The first priest
to visit Penetanguishene of whom we have record was
Bishop Macdonell, who passed through the settle-
ment in 1830. Among zealous parish priests, an out-
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standing name is that of Father Théophile Francois
Laboureau, born in Dijon, France, who devoted his
energies to the erecting of St. Ann’s Memorial Church
as a monument to the heroic Jesuit martyrs who
perished in this vicinity. In 1918, the Sisters of St.
Joseph were asked to take charge of the school in
Penetanguishene. As the majority of the pupils were
Catholics, the school was a public one using the
customary public school textbooks and teaching
catechism outside of school hours. Reverend Mother
Alberta accompanied the teachers to their new abode.
Father Brunelle, the pastor, and the parishioners gave
the new teachers a kind reception.

In accordance with the desire of the people and
also that of the Community, a new arrangement was
made in 1935. The school became a public bi-
lingual school. The Sisters of the Holy Cross from
Montreal assumed control of the French section. The
Sisters of St. Joseph remained as teachers of the
English classes until 1937 when it was decided to
withdraw from that Mission.

Among other missions were Lafontaine, founded
in 1896, and taken over in 1927 by the Holy Cross
Sisters from Montreal; and Lindsay, where a Mother
House and novitiate were located from 1881 until
they were transferred to Peterborough. Subsequently,
they were separated from Toronto and placed under
the Bishop of Peterborough.



CHAPTER THIRTEEN

THY DWELLING-PLACE

HE year 1895 witnessed the culmination of

I the efforts undertaken by the Congregation

during almost half a century of work in the
schools and charitable institutions.

As was fitting, their achievements were symbol-
ized by the erection of a new chapel at the Mother
House. The first sod was turned on the Feast of the
Visitation, July 2,1894, and the cornerstone of thenew
building was laid by Archbishop Walsh on August 15
of the same year. On December 19, 1895, at ten
o’clock, His Grace the Archbishop dedicated the
chapel. The rubical procession which opened the
ceremonies was a devotional spectacle. The dedi-
catory Mass was celebrated by Vicar-General Mc-
Cann; Father Grogan, C. SS. R. being Deacon and
Father Murray, C.S.B., Subdeacon; Father Mc-
Entee, Master of Ceremonies; and the Very Rev. V.
Marijohn, C.S.B., Assistant Priest at the Throne.
The other priests present were Dean Hand, Fathers
Teefy, C.S.B., Walsh, C.S.B., Ryan, C.S.B., Las
marche, O’Sullivan, Cruise, O’Donohue, C.S.B., Wil-
son, Carber<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>